

Registered Office: ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Mumbai-400 051.

MEETING OF THE EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS

Date : 30th January, 2002.

Time : 3.00 p.m.

Venue : Sri Shanmukhananda Chandrasekarendra

Saraswathi Auditorium, Comrade Harbanslal

Marg, Sion (E), Mumbai-400 022.

CONTENTS

A	Pages
Notice Convening Meeting of the Equity Shareholders of ICICI LIMITED	2
Explanatory Statement under Section 393 of the Companies Act, 1956	3
Scheme of Amalgamation under Sections 391 to 394 of the Companies Act, 1956, of ICICI Limited, ICICI Capital Services Limited and ICICI Personal Financial Services Limited with ICICI Bank Limited	15
Form of Proxy	31
В	
Information Statement	1 - 59

IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUDICATURE AT BOMBAY ORDINARY ORIGINAL CIVIL JURISDICTION COMPANY APPLICATION NO. 606 OF 2001

In the matter of the Companies Act, 1956;

-And-

In the matter of Sections 391 to 394 of the Companies Act, 1956;

-And-

In the matter of ICICI Limited, a company incorporated under the Indian Companies Act, 1913 and having its Registered Office at ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Mumbai 400 051;

-And-

In the matter of Scheme of Amalgamation of ICICI Limited, ICICI Capital Services Limited and ICICI Personal Financial Services Limited with ICICI Bank Limited

ICICI Limited, a company incorporated under the Indian Companies Act, 1913 and having its Registered Office at ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Mumbai 400 051.

.....Applicant Company.

NOTICE CONVENING MEETING OF THE EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE APPLICANT COMPANY

To,

The Equity Shareholders of ICICI Limited, the Applicant Company.

TAKE NOTICE that by an Order made on the 20th day of December, 2001 in the above Company Application, the High Court of Judicature at Bombay has directed that a meeting of the Equity Shareholders of the Applicant Company be held on Wednesday, the 30th day of January, 2002 at 3.00 p.m. (1500 hours) at Sri Shanmukhananda Chandrasekarendra Saraswathi Auditorium, Comrade Harbanslal Marg, Sion (E), Mumbai – 400 022 for the purpose of considering, and if thought fit, approving with or without modification, the arrangement embodied in the Scheme of Amalgamation of the Applicant Company, ICICI Capital Services Limited and ICICI Personal Financial Services Limited with ICICI Bank Limited (the "Scheme").

TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that in pursuance of the said Order and as directed therein, a meeting of the Equity Shareholders of the Applicant Company will be held on Wednesday, the 30th of January, 2002 at 3.00 p.m. (1500 hours) at Sri Shanmukhananda Chandrasekarendra Saraswathi Auditorium, Comrade Harbanslal Marg, Sion (E), Mumbai – 400 022, when you are requested to attend.

TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that you may attend and vote at the said meeting in person or by Proxy, provided that a Proxy in the prescribed form, duly signed by you or by your authorised representative, is deposited at the Registered Office of the Applicant Company at ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Mumbai 400 051 not later than 48 hours before the Meeting.

The Court has appointed Shri N. Vaghul, the Chairman of the Applicant Company, in his absence Dr. Ashok Ganguly, the Director of the Applicant Company and in his absence Shri R. Seshasayee, the Director of the Applicant Company, to be the Chairman of the said meeting.

A copy each of the Scheme, the statement under Section 393 of the Companies Act, 1956 and a Form of Proxy are enclosed.

~ og Rul

N. Vaghul

Chairman appointed for the meeting

Dated this 21st day of December 2001.

Registered Office:

ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex,

Mumbai 400 051.

Note 1: All alterations made in the Form of Proxy should be initialled.

Note 2: Only registered shareholders of the Applicant Company or thier proxy (ies) may attend and vote at the shareholders' meeting. The holders of the American Depositary Receipts (the "ADRs") of the Applicant Company shall not be entitled to attend and vote at the shareholders' meeting and the Depositary holding the equity shares of the Applicant Company underlying the ADRs of the Applicant Company shall, in accordance with the terms of the issue of such ADRs and the Depositary Agreement, vote in accordance with the direction of the Board of Directors of the Applicant Company.

Enclosed: as above.

IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUDICATURE AT BOMBAY ORDINARY ORIGINAL CIVIL JURISDICTION COMPANY APPLICATION NO. 606 OF 2001

In the matter of the Companies Act, 1956;

-And-

In the matter of Sections 391 to 394 of the Companies Act, 1956;

-And-

In the matter of ICICI Limited, a company incorporated under the Indian Companies Act, 1913 and having its Registered Office at ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Mumbai 400 051

-And-

In the matter of Scheme of Amalgamation of ICICI Limited, ICICI Capital Services Limited and ICICI Personal Financial Services Limited with ICICI Bank Limited.

ICICI Limited, a company incorporated under the Indian Companies Act, 1913 and having its Registered Office at ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Mumbai 400 051.

.....Applicant Company.

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT UNDER SECTION 393 OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1956

- 1. Pursuant to the Order dated the 20th day of December, 2001, passed by the High Court of Judicature at Bombay in the Company Application referred to hereinabove, the meeting of the Equity Shareholders of the Applicant Company to be held on Wednesday, the 30th of January, 2002 at 3.00 p.m. (1500 hours) is being convened for the purpose of considering, and if thought fit, approving with or without modification, the arrangement embodied in the Scheme of Amalgamation of the Applicant Company, ICICI Capital Services Limited and ICICI Personal Financial Services Limited with ICICI Bank Limited (the "Scheme").
- 2. In this statement, the Applicant Company is also referred to as "ICICI", ICICI Capital Services Limited is referred to as "ICICI Capital", ICICI Personal Financial Services Limited is referred to as "ICICI PFS" and ICICI Bank Limited is referred to as the "Transferee Company" or "ICICI Bank". ICICI, ICICI Capital and ICICI PFS are collectively referred to as the "Transferor Companies". Where the context so requires, the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company are together referred to as the "Companies".
- 3. A copy of the Scheme, setting out the terms and conditions of the amalgamation of the Transferor Companies with the Transferee Company, which has been approved by the Board of Directors of each of ICICI, ICICI Capital, ICICI PFS and ICICI Bank at their respective meetings held on October 25, 2001, is enclosed.
- 4. The Registered Office of ICICI is situated at ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Mumbai 400 051.
- 5. The Registered Office of ICICI Capital is situated at ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Mumbai 400 051.
- 6. The Registered Office of ICICI PFS is situated at ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Mumbai 400 051.
- 7. The Registered Office of ICICI Bank is situated at Landmark, Race Course Circle, Vadodara 390 007 and its Corporate Office at ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Mumbai 400 051.
- 8. The share capital of ICICI, ICICI Capital, ICICI PFS and ICICI Bank are set out in Clauses 3(a), 3(b), 3(c) and 3(d) of the Scheme respectively.
- 9. The objects for which ICICI has been incorporated are set out in its Memorandum of Association. The primary objects are, *inter alia*, to carry on the business of assisting industrial enterprises within the private sector of industry in India in general by assisting in the creation, expansion and modernisation of such enterprises, encouraging and promoting the participation of private capital, both internal and external in such enterprises and encouraging and promoting private ownership of industrial investments and the expansion of investment markets.

- 10. The objects for which ICICI Capital has been incorporated are set out in its Memorandum of Association. The primary objects are, *inter alia*, to carry on business as shares and stock brokers, under-writers, agents and brokers for subscribing to and for the sale and purchase of securities, stocks, shares, bonds, units or certificates of mutual funds, government securities or other financial instruments or obligations of any body corporate, authority whether central, state or local, undertaking whether public or private and provisional documents relating thereto and to act as managers to the issue of any of the securities aforesaid and to promote the formation and mobilization of capital.
- 11. The objects for which ICICI PFS has been incorporated are set out in its Memorandum of Association. The primary objects are, *inter alia*, to carry on the activities of marketing and to provide financial assistance by means of leasing, giving on hire or hire purchase, lending, selling, reselling or otherwise disposing of all forms of immoveable and moveable properties and assets and to carry on the business of granting loans or advances or providing financial assistance in any other form whatsoever to industrial and other enterprises.
- 12. The objects for which ICICI Bank has been incorporated are set out in its Memorandum of Association. The primary objects are, *inter alia*, to establish and carry on the business of banking in any part of India or outside India, to carry on the business of accepting, for the purpose of lending or investment, deposits of money repayable on demand or otherwise and withdrawable by cheque, draft, order or otherwise and to borrow, raise or take up money, lend or advance money with or without interest either upon or without security.

Background of the Amalgamation

- 13. The ICICI group, which comprises ICICI, its subsidiaries and other affiliate companies, is a diversified financial services group. ICICI was formed in 1955 at the initiative of the World Bank, the Government of India and representatives of Indian industry. The principal objective was to create a development financial institution for providing medium-term and long-term project financing to Indian businesses. Until the late 1980s, ICICI primarily focused its activities on project finance, providing long-term funds to a variety of industrial projects. With the liberalization of the financial sector in India in the 1990s, ICICI transformed its business from a development financial institution offering only project finance to a diversified financial services provider that, along with its subsidiaries and affiliates, offers a wide variety of products and services. As India's economy became more market-oriented and integrated with the world economy, ICICI capitalized on the new opportunities to provide a wider range of financial products and services to a broader spectrum of clients. ICICI set up independent operations through the incorporation of subsidiaries and affiliates in the areas of venture capital funding (1988), asset management (1993), investment banking (1993), commercial banking (1994), brokering and marketing (1994), personal finance (1997), Internet stock trading (1999), home finance (1999) and insurance (2000). ICICI operates as an autonomous and independent commercial enterprise making decisions and pursuing strategies that are designed to maximize shareholder value.
- 14. ICICI Capital is a wholly-owned subsidiary of ICICI, and is one of the largest distributors of financial and investment products in India. It also provides front-office services to the retail and semi-retail investors of ICICI, and undertakes the management of the various ICICI centres, which are low-cost stand-alone offices acting as marketing and service centers, set up by ICICI.
- 15. ICICI PFS is also a wholly-owned subsidiary of ICICI, and is engaged in the distribution and servicing of various retail credit products and other services offered by ICICI and ICICI Bank.
- 16. ICICI Bank is a private sector commercial bank organized under the laws of India in 1994. ICICI Bank offers a wide range of banking products to corporate and retail customers through a variety of delivery channels. ICICI Bank is an affiliate company of ICICI. ICICI Bank offers products and services which largely complement the products and services offered by ICICI and other ICICI group companies. ICICI Bank seeks to take advantage of the customer relationships of the ICICI group. These relationships have been particularly effective in helping ICICI Bank gain access to the larger corporations, as ICICI Bank's balance sheet on a stand-alone basis would not have permitted it to take the large exposures that may be undertaken by ICICI given its large balance sheet capabilities. ICICI Bank also seeks to benefit from ICICI's corporate relationships in growing its retail business. ICICI Bank sells retail products to the employees of ICICI group's corporate customers, including offering corporate customers its payroll deposit scheme for their employees. ICICI's retail bondholders also present ICICI Bank with an opportunity for cross-selling a variety of products, including bank accounts, credit cards, depositary share accounts and, to a limited extent, retail loans.
- 17. In May 1994, when ICICI Bank was incorporated as a subsidiary of ICICI and granted a banking licence, ICICI held 75% of the equity share capital of ICICI Bank was held by the erstwhile SCICI Limited. Following the amalgamation of the erstwhile SCICI Limited with ICICI, ICICI Bank became a wholly-owned subsidiary of ICICI. The Reserve Bank of India imposed a condition that ICICI reduce its shareholding in ICICI Bank in stages, first to not more than 75.0% of its equity share capital and ultimately to not more than 40.0% of its equity share capital. In fiscal 1998, ICICI reduced its shareholding in ICICI Bank to just below 75.0% of its equity share capital as required, through a public offering of shares in India. In March 2000, ICICI Bank completed an equity offering in the form of ADRs listed on the New York Stock Exchange for an amount of US\$ 175 million. After this offering, ICICI's shareholding in ICICI Bank was approximately 62.2% of its equity share capital. Effective March 10, 2001, ICICI Bank acquired Bank of Madura Limited, an old private sector Indian bank, in an all-stock amalgamation, and ICICI's shareholding in ICICI Bank reduced to approximately 55.6% after the amalgamation. ICICI had been in discussions with the Reserve

Bank of India to determine whether and to what extent it might still be required to sell or reduce its interest in ICICI Bank. During fiscal 2001, the Reserve Bank of India reiterated its requirement of a reduction of ICICI's holding in ICICI Bank and advised ICICI to draw up a firm plan for dilution of its stake. In line with the Reserve Bank of India's directive, ICICI reduced its shareholding in ICICI Bank to approximately 46.4% of its equity share capital through the sale of equity shares of ICICI Bank in the Indian secondary markets to institutional investors in March 2001. As a result of the foregoing, ICICI Bank ceased to be a subsidiary of ICICI as of March 22, 2001 and was accounted for under the equity method of accounting from April 1, 2000. Further, during the first five months (April to August) of fiscal 2002, ICICI sold another 0.4% of the equity share capital of ICICI Bank in the Indian secondary markets to institutional investors. On September 30, 2001, ICICI held 46.0% of the equity share capital of ICICI Bank.

- 18. The issue of universal banking, which in the Indian context means conversion of long-term development financial institutions into commercial banks, has been discussed at length over the past few years. The Reserve Bank of India in its Mid-Term Review of Monetary and Credit Policy for fiscal 2000 and its circular on Approach to Universal Banking issued on April 28, 2001, announced that it would consider proposals from development financial institutions (like ICICI) wishing to transform themselves into banks on a case-by-case basis. In its Mid-Term Review of Monetary and Credit Policy for fiscal 2002, the Reserve Bank of India encouraged financial institutions to submit proposals for their transformation into banks.
- 19. As a bank, ICICI would have the ability to accept low-cost demand deposits and offer a wider range of products and services, and greater opportunities for earning non-fund based income in the form of banking fees and commissions. In view of the benefits of transformation into a bank and the Reserve Bank of India's pronouncements on universal banking, ICICI explored various corporate structuring alternatives for its transformation into a universal bank. ICICI also held discussions with the Reserve Bank of India on an appropriate transition path and compliance with regulatory requirements. ICICI Bank also considered various strategic alternatives, in the context of the emerging competitive scenario in the Indian banking industry, and the move towards universal banking. ICICI Bank identified a large capital base and size and scale of operations as key success factors in the Indian banking industry. The strategic alternatives examined by ICICI and ICICI Bank included an amalgamation of the two entities, in view of ICICI's significant shareholding in ICICI Bank, and the existing strong business synergies between the two entities. ICICI also considered the reorganisation of its subsidiary companies.
- 20. Following this strategising on the various alternatives including an amalgamation of ICICI and ICICI Bank, the senior managements of ICICI and ICICI Bank commenced a programme of in-depth confidential discussions on the various strategic alternatives in July 2001. These discussions were held on various dates during July-August 2001. Based on these discussions, the managements of ICICI and ICICI Bank formed the view that the amalgamation of ICICI with ICICI Bank would be the optimal strategic alternative for both entities, and would create the optimal legal structure for ICICI group's universal banking strategy. The managements of ICICI and ICICI Bank accordingly decided to prepare, for submission to their respective Boards of Directors, a proposal for the amalgamation of ICICI and two of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, viz. ICICI Capital and ICICI PFS, with ICICI Bank. The rationale for the amalgamation considered by the management and the Board of Directors of the two companies is discussed in detail below in "Rationale for the Amalgamation".
- 21. The managements of ICICI and ICICI Bank decided to appoint external financial advisors to advise them on the valuation of shares of both entities and to recommend, to the respective Boards of Directors, a range of share exchange ratios. ICICI appointed JM Morgan Stanley Private Limited ("JM Morgan Stanley") and ICICI Bank appointed DSP Merrill Lynch Limited ("DSP Merrill Lynch") as their advisors, respectively, on October 1, 2001. Subsequently, in addition to these advisors appointed by ICICI and ICICI Bank respectively, ICICI and ICICI Bank jointly appointed the accounting firm Deloitte Haskins & Sells, to undertake a valuation of shares of both companies and recommend a share exchange ratio to the Board of Directors of each company.
- 22. On October 17, 2001, ICICI Bank informed the Indian Stock Exchanges and the New York Stock Exchange where its equity shares and ADR are listed, that its Board of Directors would meet on October 25, 2001, to consider its audited half-yearly results for the six months ended September 30, 2001. Separately, on October 18, 2001, ICICI informed the Indian stock exchanges and the New York Stock Exchange, where its equity shares and ADRs are listed, that its Board of Directors would meet on October 25, 2001, to consider its audited half-yearly results for the six months ended September 30, 2001. Subsequently, on October 22, 2001, the Reserve Bank of India announced its Mid-Term Review of Monetary and Credit Policy for fiscal 2002, in which it encouraged financial institutions to submit proposals for their transformation into banks. In view of the above announcement by the Reserve Bank of India and the completion of the valuation process by JM Morgan Stanley, DSP Merrill Lynch and Deloitte Haskins & Sells, the managements of ICICI and ICICI Bank decided to place the amalgamation proposal before their respective Boards of Directors at their meetings scheduled for October 25, 2001. On October 24, 2001, each company separately informed the Indian stock exchanges and the New York Stock Exchange that their respective Boards of Directors would also consider the amalgamation proposal at their meetings on October 25, 2001.

Rationale for the Amalgamation

23. The amalgamation is expected to be beneficial to both ICICI and ICICI Bank shareholders. The management and the Board of Directors of ICICI believe that the amalgamation would enhance value for ICICI shareholders through the merged entity's access to low-cost deposits, greater opportunities for earning fee-based income and the ability to participate in

the payments system and provide transaction-banking services. The management and the Board of Directors of ICICI Bank believe that the amalgamation would enhance value for ICICI Bank shareholders through a large capital base and scale of operations, seamless access to ICICI's strong corporate relationships built up over five decades, entry into new business segments, higher market share in various business segments, particularly fee-based services, and access to the vast talent pool of ICICI and its subsidiaries.

- 24. The merged entity would be the second largest among all banks in India, ranked on the basis of their total assets. The merged entity would leverage on its large capital base, comprehensive suite of products and services, extensive corporate and retail customer relationships, technology-enabled distribution architecture, strong brand franchise and vast talent pool. The merged entity would have improved capability to offer a wider range of products and services, ranging from project finance to retail finance, with a diversified resource base, improved portfolio risk management capability and deeper client relationships.
- 25. The amalgamation of ICICI Capital and ICICI PFS (which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of ICICI) with ICICI Bank would consolidate and integrate the retail business, which will be a key driver of growth for the merged entity, with respect to both assets and liabilities. Both ICICI Bank's and the ICICI group's retail strategy is based on the offering of multiple products through multiple delivery channels to provide choice and convenience to customers. The channels are currently owned by different ICICI group companies. Offering the entire range of products and services through multiple channels also results in greater economies of scale.
- 26. The process of integration of operations of ICICI, ICICI Capital and ICICI PFS with ICICI Bank is expected to be smooth in view of the existing strong synergies amongst them.

Salient Features of the Scheme

- 27. The salient features of the Scheme are as follows:
 - (a) The "Appointed Date" for the Scheme shall be the later of (i) March 30, 2002 and (ii) the date on which the approval of the Reserve Bank of India for the Scheme becomes effective.
 - (b) The "Effective Date" for the Scheme shall be the last of the dates on which all conditions, matters and filings referred to in Clause 26 of the Scheme have been fulfilled and necessary orders, approvals and consents referred to therein have been obtained.
 - The Assets or Undertaking (as defined in the Scheme) of the Transferor Companies comprises of all the undertakings, the entire businesses, all the properties (whether moveable or immoveable, tangible or intangible), assets, deposits, investments of all kinds (including shares, scrips, stocks, bonds, debentures, debenture stock, units or pass through certificates), all cash balances with the Reserve Bank of India and other banks, money at call and short notice, loans, advances, contingent rights or benefits, lease and hire purchase contracts and assets, securitised assets, receivables, benefit of assets or properties or other interest held in trust, benefit of any security arrangements, authorities, allotments, approvals, reversions, buildings and structures, offices, residential and other premises, tenancies, leases, licenses, fixed and other assets, powers, consents, authorities, registrations, agreements, contracts, engagements, arrangements of all kinds, rights, titles, interests, benefits and advantages of whatsoever nature and wheresoever situate belonging to or in the ownership, power or possession or in the control of or vested in or granted in favour of or held for the benefit of or enjoyed by the Transferor Companies or to which the Transferor Companies may be entitled and include but without being limited to trade and service names and marks and other intellectual property rights of any nature whatsoever, permits, approvals, authorisations, rights to use and avail of telephones, telexes, facsimile, email, internet, leased line connections and installations, utilities, electricity and other services, reserves, provisions, funds, benefits of all agreements, all records, files, papers, computer programmes, manuals, data, catalogues, sales and advertising materials, lists and other details of present and former customers and suppliers, customers credit information, customer and supplier pricing information and other records in connection with or relating to the Transferor Companies and all other interests of whatsoever nature belonging to or in the ownership, power, possession or the control of or vested in or granted in favour of or held for the benefit of or enjoyed by the Transferor Companies, whether in India or abroad.
 - (d) The Scheme envisages that upon the coming into effect of the Scheme and with effect from the Appointed Date and subject to the provisions of the Scheme:
 - (i) The Undertaking of the Transferor Companies shall, pursuant to the provisions of Section 394(2) of the Companies Act, 1956 (the "Act") without any further act, instrument or deed, be and stand transferred to and vested in or be deemed to have been transferred to and vested in the Transferee Company as a going concern so as to become as and from the Appointed Date, the estate, assets, rights, title, interest and authorities of the Transferee Company.
 - (ii) Without prejudice to sub-clause (i) above, in respect of such of the assets of the Undertaking as are moveable in nature or are otherwise capable of transfer by manual delivery or by endorsement and/or delivery, the same may be so transferred by the Transferor Companies, and shall, upon such transfer, become the property, estate, assets, rights, title, interest and authorities of the Transferee Company.

- (iii) All the licenses, permits, quotas, approvals, incentives, subsidies, rights, claims, leases, tenancy rights, liberties, rehabilitation schemes, special status and other benefits or privileges enjoyed or conferred upon or held or availed of by and all rights and benefits that have accrued to the Transferor Companies shall, pursuant to the provisions of Section 394(2) of the Act, without any further act, instrument or deed, be and stand transferred to and vest in or be deemed to be transferred to and vested in and be available to the Transferee Company so as to become as and from the Appointed Date the estates, assets, rights, title, interests and authorities of the Transferee Company and shall remain valid, effective and enforceable on the same terms and conditions to the extent permissible under law.
- (iv) All assets, estates, rights, title, interest, licenses and authorities acquired by or quotas, approvals, incentives, subsidies, rights, claims, leases, tenancy rights, liberties, rehabilitation schemes, special status and other benefits or privileges enjoyed or conferred upon or held or availed of by and/or all rights and benefits that have accrued to the Transferor Companies after the Appointed Date and prior to the Effective Date in connection or in relation to the operation of the Undertaking shall, pursuant to the provisions of Section 394(2) of the Act, without any further act, instrument or deed, be and stand transferred to and vested or deemed to be transferred to and vested in the Transferee Company.
- Such of the shares which have been pledged in favour of one or more of the Transferor Companies (the "Pledged Shares"), whether in their own name or as an agent or trustee, by third parties by way of security under the terms of the relevant agreements, documents and/or arrangements (collectively the "Pledge Documents"), shall, without any further act, instrument or deed be and stand transferred to ICICI Trusteeship Services Limited, a company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956 and having its Registered Office at ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Mumbai 400 051, who shall hold the Pledged Shares on trust as a trustee exclusively for the benefit of the persons for whose benefit the pledge has been created (ICICI Trusteeship Services Limited is hereinafter referred to as the "Security Trustee"), and all the rights, benefits and obligations of such Transferor Company as pledgee, agent or trustee under the Pledge Documents shall be and stand transferred to and vested in the Security Trustee, and the Pledge Documents shall continue to be in full force and effect and may be enforced as fully and effectually as if, instead of such Transferor Company, the Security Trustee had been a party thereto. The Security Trustee shall hold the Pledged Shares in trust for the benefit of the persons for whose benefit the pledge has been created and exercise all powers, trusts, authorities, duties and discretions as are specifically vested in the Security Trustee under the Pledge Documents and such other rights, powers and discretions as are reasonably incidental thereto, on and subject to the instructions and directions issued by the person for whose benefit the pledge has been created, from time to time.
- (e) The Scheme provides that upon the coming into effect of the Scheme and with effect from the Appointed Date:
 - (i) All debts, including rupee and foreign currency loans, term deposits, time and demand liabilities, borrowings, bills payable, interest accrued and all other duties, liabilities, undertakings and obligations of the Transferor Companies (the "Liabilities") shall, pursuant to the provisions of Section 394(2) of the Act, without any further act, instrument or deed be and stand transferred to and vested in or be deemed to stand transferred to and vested in, the Transferee Company so as to become the Liabilities of the Transferee Company, and further that it shall not be necessary to obtain the consent of any person who is a party to any contract or arrangement by virtue of which such Liabilities have arisen in order to give effect to the provisions of this Clause.
 - (ii) In case of such of the Liabilities or the documents governing such of the Liabilities where there is an obligation on one or more of the Transferor Companies to maintain any privilege or status specifically conferred by any statute or regulation, such obligation and related consequences thereof shall cease to be operative against the Transferee Company, and the relevant terms of the documents governing such Liabilities shall, without any further act, instrument or deed, stand modified accordingly.
 - (iii) All public deposits, debentures or bonds of the Transferor Companies shall be kept distinctly identified in the records of the Transferee Company for all intents and purposes including taxation and accounting and shall not be combined with any existing outstanding deposit scheme or series of debentures or bonds of the Transferee Company.
- (f) (i) All debentures, bonds, notes or other securities of the Transferor Companies, whether convertible into equity or otherwise, (the "Transferor Companies' Securities"), shall, pursuant to the provisions of Section 394(2) of the Act, without any further act, instrument or deed become securities of the Transferee Company and all rights, powers, duties and obligations in relation thereto shall be and stand transferred to and vested in or deemed to be transferred to and vested in and shall be exercised by or against the Transferee Company as if it were the Transferor Company in respect of the Transferor Companies' Securities so transferred. If the Transferor Companies' Securities are listed on any stock exchange, the same shall, subject to applicable regulations, be listed and/or admitted to trading on the relevant stock exchange/s whether in India or abroad, where the Transferor Companies' Securities were listed and/or admitted to trading on the same terms and conditions unless otherwise modified in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme.

- (ii) Loans and other obligations (including any guarantees, letters of credit, letters of comfort or any other instrument or arrangement which may give rise to a contingent liability in whatever form), if any, due or which may at any time in future become due between or amongst the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company shall stand discharged and there shall be no liability in that behalf on either party. Provided however, security over any moveable and/or immoveable properties and security in any other form (both present and future), if any, created by any person in favour of any one or more of the Transferor Companies for securing the obligation of the persons for and on whose behalf a guarantee, letter of credit, letter of comfort or other similar instrument has been executed or arrangements entered into by the Transferor Companies in favour of the Transferee Company shall, pursuant to the provisions of Section 394(2) of the Act, without any further act, instrument or deed stand vested in and be deemed to be in favour of the Transferee Company and the benefit of such security shall be available to the Transferee Company as if such security was ab initio created in favour of the Transferee Company.
- (iii) Any securities, debentures or notes, if any, issued by any one or more of the Transferor Companies, and held by the Transferee Company, and vice versa shall, unless sold or transferred by such Transferor Company or the Transferee Company, as the case may be, at any time prior to the Appointed Date or the Effective Date (whichever is later), stand cancelled as on the Effective Date, and shall be of no effect and such Transferor Company or the Transferee Company, as the case may be, shall have no further obligation outstanding in that behalf.
- (iv) Without prejudice to the provisions of clause (f) (ii) above, the guarantees, letters of credit, letters of comfort and other similar arrangements, if any, given or executed or made by ICICI in favour of, for the benefit of and on behalf of, ICICI Capital and/or ICICI PFS in favour of any person shall stand discharged.
- (g) If the Effective Date occurs after the Appointed Date:
 - each of the Transferor Companies with effect from the Appointed Date and up to and including the Effective Date:
 - (aa) shall carry on and shall be deemed to have carried on all the business and activities as hitherto and shall hold and stand possessed of and shall be deemed to have held and stood possessed of the Undertaking on account of, and in trust for, the Transferee Company; and
 - (bb) all the profits or incomes accruing or arising to the Transferor Companies, or expenditure or losses arising or incurred (including the effect of taxes, if any, thereon) by the Transferor Companies shall, for all purposes, be treated and be deemed to be and accrue as the profits or incomes or expenditure or losses or taxes of the Transferee Company, as the case may be.
 - (ii) each of the Transferor Companies with effect from the Appointed Date and up to and including the Effective Date shall carry on its business and activities with reasonable diligence and business prudence and shall not undertake financial commitments either for itself or on behalf of its subsidiaries or group companies or any third party, or sell, transfer, alienate, charge, mortgage or encumber the Undertaking or any part thereof, save and except in each case in the following circumstances:
 - (aa) if the same is in its ordinary course of business as carried on by it as on the date of filing of the Scheme with the High Court of Judicature at Bombay and the High Court of Gujarat at Ahmedabad; or
 - (bb) if the same is expressly permitted by the Scheme; or
 - (cc) if prior written consent of the Transferee Company has been obtained.
 - (iii) the Transferee Company with effect from the Appointed Date and up to and including the Effective Date shall carry on its business and activities with reasonable diligence and business prudence and shall not undertake financial commitments either for itself or on behalf of its subsidiaries or group companies or any third party, or sell, transfer, alienate, charge, mortgage or encumber its undertaking or any part thereof, save and except in each case in the following circumstances:
 - (aa) if the same is in its ordinary course of business as carried on by it as on the date of filing this Scheme with the High Court of Judicature at Bombay and the High Court of Gujarat at Ahmedabad; or
 - (bb) if the same is expressly permitted by the Scheme; or
 - (cc) if prior written consent of each of the Transferor Companies has been obtained.
- (h) (i) The Board of Directors of ICICI and the Transferee Company have jointly constituted a committee in the manner described in sub-clause (ii) below (the "Joint Committee") to perform the functions specified in sub-clause (iii) below from the date of filing of the Scheme with the High Court of Judicature at Bombay and the High Court of Gujarat at Ahmedabad until the Effective Date.
 - (ii) The Joint Committee shall consist of Shri K. V. Kamath (Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, ICICI), as the Chairman of the Joint Committee, Shri H. N. Sinor (Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer,

ICICI Bank), as a member of the Joint Committee. Shri K. V. Kamath shall have the power and authority to appoint such additional members of the Joint Committee, as may be necessary, from amongst the whole time Directors and/or employees of ICICI. Shri H. N. Sinor shall have the power and authority to appoint such additional members of the Joint Committee, as may be necessary, from amongst the whole time Directors and/or employees of ICICI Bank.

- (iii) From the date of filing of the Scheme with the High Court of Judicature at Bombay and the High Court of Gujarat at Ahmedabad and until the Effective Date, the Joint Committee shall perform the following functions:
 - (aa) in case of any ambiguity or any question as to whether any matter is within or outside the ordinary course of business of the Transferor Companies and/or the Transferee Company, it shall determine the same on the basis of evidence that it may deem relevant for the purpose (including the books and records of the Transferor Companies and/or the Transferee Company);
 - (bb) to consider for approval the matters pertaining to the share capital of the Transferor Companies and/or the Transferee Company as specified in Clause 9 of the Scheme;
 - (cc) to deal with the matters, if any, in relation to change in the employees' compensation structure of the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company and matters incidental or consequential or related thereto; and
 - (dd) to perform such other functions specifically provided elsewhere in the Scheme or as may be specifically conferred on it by the Boards of Directors of ICICI and the Transferee Company respectively.
- (iv) The Scheme contains broad procedures relating to holding of meetings of and taking of decisions by the Joint Committee.
- (i) ICICI may, on the Appointed Date, transfer all the shares of the Transferee Company held by it on such date (the "ICICI Bank Shares") to an individual trustee or a board of trustees (including the survivors or survivor of any of the trustees comprising such board of trustees) or a corporate trustee (hereinafter referred to as the "Trustees") to have and to hold the ICICI Bank Shares in trust together with all additions or accretions thereto upon trust exclusively for the benefit of ICICI and its successor subject to the powers, provisions, discretions, rights and agreements contained in the instrument (the "Trust Deed") establishing the aforesaid trust (the "Trust"). The Trustees shall not exercise any voting rights with respect to ICICI Bank Shares. It is proposed that the Trustees shall, within a period of 24 months from the Effective Date, subject however to the prevailing market conditions (in which case, the said period may be suitably extended in the discretion of the Trustees), sell, transfer or dispose of the ICICI Bank Shares at such time or times and in such manner as may be proper in accordance with provisions of the Trust Deed and shall remit the proceeds thereof to ICICI or its successor and consequent thereto all obligations of the Trustees under the Trust Deed shall stand discharged and the Trust shall stand terminated.
- (j) From the date of filing of the Scheme with the High Court of Judicature at Bombay and the High Court of Gujarat at Ahmedabad and up to and including the Effective Date, none of the Transferor Companies and/or the Transferee Company shall make any change in its capital structure in any manner either by any increase (including by way of issue of equity and/or preference shares on a rights basis or by way of a public issue, bonus shares and/or convertible debentures or otherwise), decrease, reduction, reclassification, sub-division, consolidation, re-organisation, or in any other manner which may, in any way, affect the Share Exchange Ratio (as defined in clause (n) (i) below), except with the prior approval of the Joint Committee provided that nothing contained in this sub-clause shall be deemed to affect any pre-existing obligations of any of the Transferor Companies and/or the Transferee Company, including in respect of the issue of further employees' stock options, vesting of stock options or exercise of vested options under any existing scheme or conversion of any loan or convertible security into equity shares in accordance with the terms of any loan obtained or convertible security issued by any of the Transferor Companies and/or the Transferee Company.
- (k) Upon the coming into effect of the Scheme all suits, actions and legal and other proceedings by or against the Transferor Companies pending and/or arising on or before the Appointed Date or the Effective Date (whichever is later) shall be transferred in the name of the Transferee Company and shall be continued and be enforced by or against the Transferee Company as effectually and in the same manner and to the same extent as if the same had been pending and/or arisen by or against the Transferee Company.
- (I) Upon the coming into effect of the Scheme, and subject to the provisions of the Scheme, all contracts, deeds, bonds, agreements, arrangements and other instruments (including all tenancies, leases, licenses and other assurances in favour of any of the Transferor Companies or powers or authorities granted by or to any of them) of whatsoever nature to which any of the Transferor Companies is a party or to the benefit of which any of the Transferor Companies may be eligible, and which are subsisting or having effect immediately before the Appointed Date or the Effective Date (whichever is later), shall, without any further act, instrument or deed, be in full force and effect in favour of or against the Transferee Company, as the case may be, and may be enforced as fully and effectually as if, instead of such Transferor Company, the Transferee Company had been a party or beneficiary or oblique thereto.

- (m) Upon the coming into effect of the Scheme:
 - (i) the employees of the Transferor Companies who are in service on the Appointed Date or the Effective Date (whichever is later), shall become the employees solely of the Transferee Company on such date without any break or interruption in service and on terms and conditions as to remuneration not less favourable than those subsisting with reference to the respective Transferor Companies on the said date.
 - (ii) the existing provident fund, gratuity fund, and pension and/or superannuation fund or trusts created by the Transferor Companies or any other special funds created or existing for the benefit of the employees of the Transferor Companies shall be transferred to the relevant funds of the Transferee Company. In the event that the Transferee Company does not have its own fund with respect to any such matters, the Transferee Company shall create its own funds to which the contributions pertaining to the employees of Transferor Companies shall be transferred.
- (n) (i) Upon the coming into effect of the Scheme, and in consideration of the transfer of and vesting of the Undertaking and the Liabilities of the Transferor Companies in the Transferee Company in terms of the Scheme, the Transferee Company shall without any further application, act, instrument or deed, issue and allot to the equity shareholders of ICICI whose names are recorded in the Register of Members of ICICI (the "Members"), on a date (hereinafter referred to as the "Record Date") to be fixed by the Board of Directors of the Transferee Company or a committee of such Board of Directors, equity shares of the face value of Rs. 10/- (Rupees ten only) each, credited as fully paid up, in the ratio of 1 (one) equity share of the face value of Rs. 10/- (Rupees ten only) each held in ICICI.

(the above ratio in which the shares of the Transferee Company are to be allotted to the shareholders of ICICI by the Transferee Company is hereinafter referred to as the "Share Exchange Ratio").

The Share Exchange Ratio was arrived at based on a valuation process undertaken by reputed external valuers. JM Morgan Stanley and DSP Merrill Lynch were appointed by ICICI and ICICI Bank respectively to advise them on a fair share exchange ratio. In addition, both ICICI and ICICI Bank had jointly appointed the accounting firm Deloitte Haskins & Sells to recommend the final share exchange ratio to each of the Board of Directors of ICICI and ICICI Bank. The Share Exchange Ratio has been determined in accordance with accepted valuation methodologies, using the relative market prices, dividend discount approach and net asset values.

- (ii) The share certificates in relation to the shares held by the said Members in ICICI (and the ADRs, as defined in Clause 2 of the Scheme) that have been issued representing the underlying shares in ICICI) shall be deemed to have been automatically cancelled and be of no effect on and from such Record Date, without any further act, instrument or deed. In so far as the issue of shares pursuant to sub-clause (i) above is concerned, each of the said Members of ICICI, shall have the option, exercisable by notice in writing by the said Members to the Transferee Company on or before such date as may be determined by the Board of Directors of the Transferee Company or a committee of such Board of Directors, to receive either in certificate form or in dematerialised form, the shares of the Transferee Company in lieu thereof and in terms of the Scheme. In the event that such notice has not been received by the Transferee Company in respect of any of the said Members, the shares of the Transferee Company shall be issued to such Members in certificate form. Those of the said Members exercising the option to receive the shares in dematerialised form shall be required to have an account with a depositary participant and shall provide details thereof and such other confirmations as may be required. It is only thereupon that the Transferee Company shall issue and directly credit the demat/ dematerialised securities account of such Member with the shares of the Transferee Company.
- (iii) No shares shall be issued by the Transferee Company pursuant to the amalgamation of ICICI Capital and ICICI PFS, both of which are wholly owned subsidiaries of ICICI.
- (iv) In respect of equity shares of ICICI where calls are in arrears, without prejudice to any remedies that ICICI or the Transferee Company, as the case may be, shall have in this behalf, the Transferee Company shall not be bound to issue any shares of the Transferee Company (whether partly paid or otherwise) nor to confirm any entitlement to such holder until such time as the calls-in-arrears are paid.
- (v) Upon the coming into effect of the Scheme, the Transferee Company shall issue to the holders of 0.001% preference shares of Rs. 1,00,00,000/- each fully paid-up (the "**Preference Shares**") of ICICI one 0.001% preference share of Rs. 1,00,00,000/- fully paid in lieu of every Preference Share on the same terms and conditions, subject to the approval of the Reserve Bank of India and issue of notification and/or grant of permission for issuance of such preference shares, and/or amendment of the Banking Regulation Act, 1949. Provided however, in case such approval and/or grant of permission and/or amendment is not forthcoming, ICICI will make alternate arrangements for accounting for the Preference Shares. The Preference Shares of ICICI shall stand cancelled upon the issuance of the preference shares by the Transferee Company as aforesaid. Nothing contained in this Clause shall affect the redemption on maturity of any of the Preference Shares of ICICI prior to the Effective Date.

- (o) No fractional certificates shall be issued by the Transferee Company in respect of fractional entitlements, if any, to any Member. The Board of Directors of the Transferee Company shall, instead consolidate all such fractional entitlements and thereupon issue and allot equity shares in lieu thereof to the Trust or a director or an officer of the Transferee Company or such other person as the Transferee Company shall appoint in this behalf who shall hold the shares in trust on behalf of the Members with the express understanding that such Trust, director(s) or officer(s) or person entitled to fractional entitlements shall sell the same in the market at such time or times and at such price or prices in the market and to such person or persons, as it/he/they deem fit, and pay to the Transferee Company, the net sale proceeds thereof, whereupon the Transferee Company shall distribute such net sale proceeds to the Members of ICICI in proportion to their respective fractional entitlements.
- (p) Equity shares issued and allotted by the Transferee Company in accordance with the Share Exchange Ratio shall be subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Transferee Company and shall rank *pari passu* in all respects with the then existing equity shares of the Transferee Company, including in respect of dividends, if any, that may be declared by the Transferee Company, on or after the Appointed Date.
- (q) Equity shares of the Transferee Company issued in terms of the Share Exchange Ratio above, shall, subject to applicable regulations, be listed or admitted to trading on the relevant stock exchange/s, whether in India or abroad, where the equity shares of the Transferee Company are presently listed or admitted to trading.
- (r) (i) Upon the coming into effect of the Scheme and the issue of shares in accordance with the Share Exchange Ratio, the Transferee Company shall instruct its depositary (the "Depositary") to issue ADRs of the Transferee Company to the existing investors in ADRs of ICICI in an appropriate manner in accordance with the terms of the Deposit Agreement entered into amongst the Transferee Company, Bankers Trust Company and all registered holders and beneficial owners from time to time of the ADRs of the Transferee Company (the "Deposit Agreement"). The Transferee Company and the Depositary shall enter into such further documents as may be necessary and appropriate in this behalf.
 - (ii) The Transferee Company shall take necessary steps for the issue of ADRs pursuant to sub-Clause (i) above and for listing the ADRs on the New York Stock Exchange, including without limitation the filing of a supplemental listing application with the New York Stock Exchange and any required amendment of the Form F-6 under the US Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act").
 - (iii) The ADRs issued to the existing investors in the ADRs of ICICI pursuant to sub-Clause (i) above shall be similar in all material respects with the then existing ADRs of the Transferee Company.
 - (iv) The equity shares underlying the ADRs issued to the existing investors in the ADRs of ICICI shall not be registered under the Securities Act in reliance upon the exemption from registration contained in Section 3(a)(10) of the Securities Act, and upon a no-action letter issued by the staff of the US Securities and Exchange Commission. To obtain this exemption, the Transferee Company will rely on the approval of the Scheme by the High Court of Judicature at Bombay and the High Court of Gujarat at Ahmedabad following the hearing by each court.
 - (v) If, on account of the Share Exchange Ratio, fractional ADRs of the Transferee Company have to be issued, then, in accordance with Section 4.03 of the Deposit Agreement, in lieu of delivering receipts for fractional ADRs the Depositary may, in its discretion, sell the shares represented by the aggregate of such fractions, at public or private sale, at such place or places and at such price or prices as it may deem proper, and distribute the net proceeds of any such sale in accordance with the terms of the Deposit Agreement.
- (s) The Scheme is conditional upon and subject to:
 - (i) the Scheme being agreed to by the requisite majorities of the Members of the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company as required under the Act and the requisite orders of the High Court of Judicature at Bombay and the High Court of Gujarat at Ahmedabad being obtained;
 - (ii) the approval of the Reserve Bank of India being obtained;
 - (iii) such other sanctions and approvals including from any governmental authority or contracting party, if any, as may be required by law or contract in respect of the Scheme being obtained; and
 - (iv) the certified copies of the court orders referred to in the Scheme being filed with the Registrar of Companies, Maharashtra and the Registrar of Companies, Gujarat.

The Members are requested to read the entire text of the Scheme to get better acquainted with the provisions thereof as stated above. The aforesaid are only the main clauses thereof.

- 28. The Transferor Companies are not subsidiaries of the Transferee Company in any manner whatsoever as provided in Section 4 of the Companies Act, 1956.
- 29. The merged entity would be the second-largest amongst all banks in India ranked on the basis of their total assets with considerable competitive advantages in terms of technology, processes and human resources. The amalgamation would combine the large capital base of the Applicant Company with the strong deposit raising capacity of ICICI Bank, enabling

the merged entity to diversify its sources of funding and giving it greater flexibility to develop profitable business lines. The merged entity's focus on raising resources through retail deposits, which is recognised as a stable source of funding for banks, will impart greater stability to the liability base. Further, the merged entity will maintain large cash reserves and liquid investments in Government securities, in compliance with statutory norms applicable to banks, which will ensure adequate liquidity at all times.

- 30. The domestic credit rating agencies have continued to maintain their "AAA" credit ratings, indicating it would have highest safety, for the Applicant Company after the announcement of the proposed merger. The international credit rating agencies, Moody's Investors Services and Standard and Poor's, have also maintained their credit ratings for the Applicant Company after announcement of the proposed merger. Moody's Investors Services has also expressed the view that the proposed merger of the Applicant Company with ICICI Bank would create a financially stronger entity and would have positive implications for the debt obligations of the Applicant Company.
- 31. There is no likelihood that any creditor of the Applicant Company would loose or be prejudiced as a result of the Scheme being passed. The latest audited accounts of the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company indicates that the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company are in a solvent position and the merged entity would emerge stronger and thus be able to meet the liabilities as they arise in the course of business. Hence, the Scheme will not adversely affect the interests of any of the creditors.
- 32. The Scheme provides that in the event the Scheme fails to take effect by June 30, 2002 or by such later date as may be agreed to by the respective Boards of Directors of each of the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company, the Scheme would become null and void and in that event no rights and liabilities whatsoever would accrue to or be incurred inter se by the parties or their shareholders or creditors or employees or any other person. In such case each of the Companies shall bear its own costs or as may be mutually agreed amongst themselves.
- 33. The Directors of each of the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company may be deemed to be concerned and/ or interested in the Scheme to the extent of their shareholding in the Companies or to the extent the said Directors are the partners, directors, members of the companies, firms and/or institutions that hold shares in any of the Companies.
- 34. The Directors and executive officers of ICICI and their shareholding and stock options granted to them in ICICI and ICICI Bank as on October 31, 2001 were as follows:

			IC	ICI	ICICI	Bank
Name	Age	Position	Share- holding	Stock options	Share- holding	Stock options
Mr. N. Vaghul	65	Chairman	50,586	_	2,250	_
Mr. B. K. Jhawar	66	Director	_			_
Mr. R. Seshasayee	53	Director	_			
Mr. Rakesh Khurana	53	Director	_			
Dr. Ashok Ganguly	66	Director	_	_	_	_
Mr. D. Sengupta	59	Director	_			_
Mr. N. R. Narayana Murthy	55	Director	_			_
Mr. Marti G. Subrahmanyam	55	Director	2,598			_
Mr. Lakshmi N. Mittal	51	Director	_	_		_
Mr. S. K. Purkayastha	57	Government Director	_			_
Mr. G. N. Bajpai	59	Director	_	_		_
Mr. Anupam Puri	56	Director	_			
Mr. K. V. Kamath	53	Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer	35,000	360,000	1,000	75,000
Ms. Lalita D. Gupte	52	Joint Managing Director and Chief Operating Officer – International Business	10,085	330,000	1,000	52,500
Ms. Kalpana Morparia	52	Executive Director	30,383	180,000	1,000	20,000
Mr. Subrata Mukherji	48	Executive Director	3,009	180,000	1,000	18,000
Mr. Sanjiv Kerkar	50	Senior General Manager	6,182	180,000	1,200	18,000
Mr. P.H. Ravikumar ⁽¹⁾	50	Senior General Manager	_	12,000	1,000	54,700
Ms. Ramni Nirula	49	Senior General Manager	4,133	120,000		12,000
Mr. Devdatt Shah	46	Senior General Manager	_	120,000		_
Ms. Shikha Sharma	42	Senior General Manager	1,833	180,000	1,000	18,000
Mr. Balaji Swaminathan ⁽¹⁾	36	Senior General Manager and Chief Financial Officer	_	60,000	_	_
Mr. Jyotin Mehta	43	General Manager and Company Secretary	_	20,000	_	_

⁽¹⁾ Joined ICICI in fiscal 2002.

35. The Directors and executive officers of ICICI Bank and their shareholding and stock options granted in ICICI Bank and ICICI as on October 31, 2001 were as follows:

	ICICI Bank			ICICI		
Name	Age	Position	Share- holding	Stock options	Share- holding	Stock options
Mr. K. V. Kamath	53	Director	1,000	75,000	35,000	3,60,000
Ms. Lalita D. Gupte	52	Director	1,000	52,500	10,085	3,30,000
Mr. B. V. Bhargava	65	Director	4,600	_	16,564	_
Mr. Uday M Chitale	52	Director	_	_	_	_
Mr. Somesh R Sathe	56	Director	_	_		_
Mr. R. Rajamani	65	Director	_	_	_	_
Dr. Satish C. Jha	67	Director	_	_		_
Mr. H.N. Sinor	56	Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer	1,100	131,250	_	90,000
Ms. Chanda D. Kochhar ⁽¹⁾	39	Executive Director	1,000	15,000	4,965	120,000
Dr. Nachiket Mor ⁽¹⁾	37	Executive Director	_	12,000	_	120,000
Mr. M. N. Gopinath	52	Senior Executive Vice President	200	56,250	_	8,000
Mr. Ashok Alladi	50	Senior Executive Vice President	_	43,750	_	6,000
Mr. G. Venkatakrishnan	50	Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	_	50,000	500	5,000
Mr. M. N. Shenoi	43	Senior Executive Vice President	1,000	40,000	_	5,000
Mr. R. B. Nirantar	46	Senior Executive Vice President	100	43,750	_	7,500
Mr. A. Hari Prasad	46	Senior Executive Vice President	_	43,750	_	5,000
Mr. V. Nachiappan	47	Senior Executive Vice President	4,746	_	_	_
Mr. Bhashyam Seshan	45	Company Secretary	1,200	17,500	_	_

⁽¹⁾ Joined ICICI Bank in fiscal 2002.

36. The Directors and executive officers of ICICI Capital and their shareholding and stock options granted in ICICI and ICICI Bank as on October 31, 2001 were as follows:

			I I	CICI	ICICI	Bank
Name	Age	Position	Share- holding	Stock options	Share- holding	Stock options
Ms. Lalita D. Gupte	52	Chairperson	10,085	330,000	1,000	52,500
Ms. Kalpana Morparia	52	Director	30,383	180,000	1,000	20,000
Mr. Subrata Mukherji	48	Director	3,009	180,000	1,000	18,000
Mr. V. Srinivasan	45	Director	5,916	120,000	1,000	12,000
Ms. Madhabi Puri Buch	35	Director	2,283	90,000	1,200	7,500
Mr. M. N. Gopinath	52	Director	_	_	200	56,250
Mr. Amitabh Chaturvedi	33	Executive Director	_	40,000	_	2,500
Mr. R. K. Saxena	45	Company Secretary	_	10,000	500	_

^{37.} The Directors and executive officers of ICICI PFS and their shareholding and stock options granted in ICICI and ICICI Bank as on October 31, 2001 were as follows:

			I	CICI	ICICI	Bank
Name	Age	Position	Share- holding	Stock options	Share- holding	Stock options
Mr. K. V. Kamath	53	Chairman	35,000	360,000	1,000	75,000
Ms. Lalita D. Gupte	52	Director	10,085	330,000	1,000	52,500
Ms. Kalpana Morparia	52	Director	30,383	180,000	1,000	20,000
Mr. Subrata Mukherji	48	Director	3,009	180,000	1,000	18,000
Mr. Sanjiv Kerkar	50	Director	6,182	180,000	1,200	18,000
Mr. Nagesh Pinge	43	Director	2,026	90,000	_	_
Ms. Madhabi Puri Buch	35	Director	2,283	90,000	1,200	7,500
Mr V. Vaidyanathan	33	Managing Director	_	65,000	_	_
Mr. Rajesh Chawathe	31	Company Secretary	150	_	800	_

- 38. This Scheme will have no effect on the interests of each of the Directors of the Companies except in their capacity as shareholders of the Companies. Particulars of the interests of such Directors are available for inspection at the respective Registered Offices of the Transferee Company and each of the Transferor Companies.
- 39. No investigation proceedings have been instituted or are pending under Sections 235 to 251 of the Companies Act, 1956 against the Transferor Companies and the Transferor Company.
- 40. Inspection of the following documents may be had at the Registered Office of the Applicant Company on any working day (except Saturday) prior to the date of the meeting, during office hours.
 - (i) the Order dated the 20th day of December, 2001, of the High Court of Judicature at Bombay directing the convening of the meeting of the Equity Shareholders of the Applicant Company.
 - (ii) the Scheme.
 - (iii) the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company.
 - (iv) the Annual Report of the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company for the year ended March 31, 2001.
 - (v) the Valuation Report of Deloitte Haskins & Sells.
 - (vi) the Annual Reports on Form 20-F of the Applicant Company and ICICI Bank filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission for the year ended March 31, 2001.

This statement may be treated as the statement under Section 173 and also Section 393 of the Companies Act, 1956. A copy of the Scheme and this statement may be obtained from the Registered Office of the Applicant Company.

1 agane

N. Vaghul Chairman appointed for the meeting

Dated this 21st day of December 2001.

Registered Office: ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Mumbai 400 051.

SCHEME OF AMALGAMATION

of

ICICI LIMITED
ICICI CAPITAL SERVICES LIMITED
ICICI PERSONAL FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED

collectively the Transferor Companies

with

ICICI BANK LIMITED the Transferee Company

PART I - GENERAL

- This Scheme of Amalgamation (hereinafter referred to as the "Scheme") provides for the amalgamation of ICICI Limited, ICICI Capital Services Limited and ICICI Personal Financial Services Limited (both ICICI Capital Services Limited and ICICI Personal Financial Services Limited, are wholly-owned subsidiaries of ICICI Limited) with ICICI Bank Limited pursuant to Sections 391 to 394 and other relevant provisions of the Act.
- 2. In this Scheme, unless repugnant to the meaning or context thereof, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:
 - "Act" means the Companies Act, 1956 or any amendment or re-enactment thereof.
 - "ADRs" means American depositary receipts issued pursuant to the Issue of Foreign Currency Convertible Bonds and Ordinary Shares (Through Depositary Receipt Mechanism) Scheme, 1993 together with any modification thereto and other applicable laws, and where relevant shall include the underlying equity shares relating thereto.
 - "Appointed Date" means the later of (i) March 30, 2002 and (ii) the date on which the approval of the Reserve Bank of India for the Scheme becomes effective.
 - "Assets" or "Undertaking" means all the undertakings, the entire businesses, all the properties (whether movable or immovable, tangible or intangible), assets, deposits, investments of all kinds (including shares, scrips, stocks, bonds, debentures, debenture stock, units or pass through certificates), all cash balances with the Reserve Bank of India and other banks, money at call and short notice, loans, advances, contingent rights or benefits, lease and hire purchase contracts and assets, securitised assets, receivables, benefit of assets or properties or other interest held in trust, benefit of any security arrangements, authorities, allotments, approvals, reversions, buildings and structures, office, residential and other premises, tenancies, leases, licenses, fixed and other assets, powers, consents, authorities, registrations, agreements, contracts, engagements, arrangements of all kinds, rights, titles, interests, benefits and advantages of whatsoever nature and wheresoever situate belonging to or in the ownership, power or possession or in the control of or vested in or granted in favour of or held for the benefit of or enjoyed by the Transferor Companies or to which the Transferor Companies may be entitled and include but without being limited to trade and service names and marks and other intellectual property rights of any nature whatsoever, permits, approvals, authorisations, rights to use and avail of telephones, telexes, facsimile, email, internet, leased line connections and installations, utilities, electricity and other services, reserves, provisions, funds, benefits of all agreements, all records, files, papers, computer programmes, manuals, data, catalogues, sales and advertising materials, lists and other details of present and former customers and suppliers, customers credit information, customer and supplier pricing information and other records in connection with or relating to the Transferor Companies and all other interests of whatsoever nature belonging to or in the ownership, power, possession or the control of or vested in or granted in favour of or held for the benefit of or enjoyed by the Transferor Companies, whether in India or abroad.
 - "Deposit Agreement" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 17(a).
 - "Depositary" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 17(a).
 - "Effective Date" means the last of the dates on which all conditions, matters and filings referred to in Clause 26 hereof have been fulfilled and necessary orders, approvals and consents referred to therein have been obtained.

References in this Scheme to the date of "coming into effect of this Scheme" or "effectiveness of this Scheme" shall mean the Effective Date.

"ICICI" means ICICI Limited, a company incorporated under the Indian Companies Act, 1913 and having its registered office at ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Mumbai 400 051, Maharashtra.

"ICICI Bank" or the "Transferee Company" means ICICI Bank Limited, a company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956 and licensed by the Reserve Bank of India under the Banking Regulation Act, 1949 and having its registered office at Landmark, Race Course Circle, Vadodara 390 007, Gujarat.

"ICICI Bank Shares" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 8.

"ICICI Capital" means ICICI Capital Services Limited, a company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956, and having its registered office at ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Mumbai 400 051, Maharashtra.

"ICICI PFS" means ICICI Personal Financial Services Limited, a company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956, and having its registered office at ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Mumbai 400 051, Maharashtra.

"ICICI Stock Options" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 9 (b) (i).

"Joint Committee" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 7(a).

"Members" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 13(a).

"Liabilities" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 5(a).

"Pledged Documents" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 4(e).

"Pledged Shares" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 4(e).

"Preference Shares" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 13(e).

"Record Date" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 13(a).

"Securities Act" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 17(b).

"Security Trustee" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 4(e).

"Share Exchange Ratio" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 13(a).

"Transferor Companies" means collectively ICICI, ICICI Capital and ICICI PFS and "Transferor Company" means individually each of them.

"Transferor Companies' Securities" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 5(d).

"Trust" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 8.

"Trust Deed" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 8.

"Trustees" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 8.

PART II - SHARE CAPITAL

3. (a) The share capital of ICICI as of September 30, 2001 is as under:

AUTHORIZED	(IN RUPEES)
1,600,000,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each	1600,00,00,000
5,000,000,000 Preference Shares of Rs. 10/- each	5000,00,00,000
350 Preference Shares of Rs. 10,000,000/- each	350,00,00,000
	6950,00,00,000
ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP	
785,345,448 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each fully paid-up	785,34,54,480
Less: Calls in arrears	48,29,648.19
	784,86,24,831.81
350 0.001% Preference Shares of Rs. 1,00,00,000/- each fully paid-up redeemable	
at par on April 20, 2018	350,00,00,000

Of the above -

- (i) 6,750,000 Equity Shares are allotted as fully paid-up by way of bonus shares by capitalization of General Reserve;
- (ii) 222,534,943 Equity Shares are allotted as fully paid-up by conversion of Debentures/ Loans into Equity Shares (including 9,798,327 Equity Shares on conversion of loans of erstwhile SCICI Ltd.)
- (iii) 69,184,024 Equity Shares are allotted as fully paid-up towards consideration for amalgamation of erstwhile SCICI Ltd. with ICICI.
- (iv) 2,395,205 Equity Shares are allotted as fully paid-up towards consideration for amalgamation of erstwhile ITC Classic Finance Limited with ICICI.
- (v) 1,657,061 Equity Shares are allotted as fully paid-up towards consideration for amalgamation of erstwhile Anagram Finance Limited with ICICI.
- (vi) 256,414,285 (including 96,700,000 Equity Shares represented by Global Depositary Receipts which were converted into American Depositary Shares) Equity Shares are allotted as fully paid-up represented by American Depositary Shares through an international offering in US Dollars.
- (b) The share capital of ICICI Capital as of September 30, 2001 is as under:

AUTHORIZED	(IN RUPEES)
5,000,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each	5,00,00,000

ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP

5,000,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each fully paid-up 5,00,00,000

(c) The share capital of ICICI PFS as of September 30, 2001 is as under:

AUTHORIZED (IN RUPEES) 150,000,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each 150,000,000

ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP

5,000,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each 5,000,000

(d) The share capital of the Transferee Company as of September 30, 2001 is as under:

 AUTHORIZED
 (IN RUPEES)

 300,000,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each
 300,000,000

ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP

220,358,680 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each fully paid-up 220,35,86,800

Of the above -

23,539,800 Equity Shares are allotted as fully paid-up towards consideration for amalgamation of erstwhile Bank of Madura Limited with the ICICI Bank.

PART III - TRANSFER AND VESTING

- 4. Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme and with effect from the Appointed Date and subject to the provisions of this Scheme:
 - (a) The Undertaking of the Transferor Companies shall, pursuant to the provisions of Section 394(2) of the Act, without any further act, instrument or deed, be and stand transferred to and vested in or be deemed to have been transferred to and vested in the Transferee Company as a going concern so as to become as and from the Appointed Date, the estate, assets, rights, title, interest and authorities of the Transferee Company.
 - (b) Without prejudice to sub-clause (a) above, in respect of such of the assets of the Undertaking as are movable in nature or are otherwise capable of transfer by manual delivery or by endorsement and/or delivery, the same may be so transferred by the Transferor Companies, and shall, upon such transfer, become the property, estate, assets, rights, title, interest and authorities of the Transferee Company.

- (c) All the licenses, permits, quotas, approvals, incentives, subsidies, rights, claims, leases, tenancy rights, liberties, rehabilitation schemes, special status and other benefits or privileges enjoyed or conferred upon or held or availed of by and all rights and benefits that have accrued to the Transferor Companies shall, pursuant to the provisions of Section 394(2) of the Act, without any further act, instrument or deed, be and stand transferred to and vest in or be deemed to be transferred to and vested in and be available to the Transferee Company so as to become as and from the Appointed Date the estates, assets, rights, title, interests and authorities of the Transferee Company and shall remain valid, effective and enforceable on the same terms and conditions to the extent permissible under law.
- (d) All assets, estate, rights, title, interest, licenses and authorities acquired by or quotas, approvals, incentives, subsidies, rights, claims, leases, tenancy rights, liberties, rehabilitation schemes, special status and other benefits or privileges enjoyed or conferred upon or held or availed of by and/or all rights and benefits that have accrued to the Transferor Companies after the Appointed Date and prior to the Effective Date in connection or in relation to the operation of the Undertaking shall, pursuant to the provisions of Section 394(2) of the Act, without any further act, instrument or deed, be and stand transferred to and vested or deemed to be transferred to and vested in the Transferee Company.
- Such of the shares which have been pledged in favour of one or more of the Transferor Companies (the "Pledged Shares"), whether in their own name or as an agent or trustee, by third parties by way of security under the terms of the relevant agreements, documents and/or arrangements (collectively the "Pledge Documents"), shall, without any further act, instrument or deed be and stand transferred to ICICI Trusteeship Services Limited, a company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956 and having its registered office at ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Mumbai 400 051, Maharashtra, who shall hold the Pledged Shares on trust as a trustee exclusively for the benefit of the persons for whose benefit the pledge has been created (ICICI Trusteeship Services Limited is hereinafter referred to as the "Security Trustee"), and all the rights, benefits and obligations of such Transferor Company as pledgee, agent or trustee under the Pledge Documents shall be and stand transferred to and vested in the Security Trustee, and the Pledge Documents shall continue to be in full force and effect and may be enforced as fully and effectually as if, instead of such Transferor Company, the Security Trustee had been a party thereto. The Security Trustee shall hold the Pledged Shares in trust for the benefit of the persons for whose benefit the pledge has been created and exercise all powers, trusts, authorities, duties and discretions as are specifically vested in the Security Trustee under the Pledge Documents and such other rights, powers and discretions as are reasonably incidental thereto, on and subject to the instructions and directions issued by the person for whose benefit the pledge has been created, from time to time.
- 5. Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme and with effect from the Appointed Date:
 - (a) All debts, including rupee and foreign currency loans, term deposits, time and demand liabilities, borrowings, bills payable, interest accrued and all other duties, liabilities, undertakings and obligations of the Transferor Companies (the "Liabilities") shall, pursuant to the provisions of Section 394(2) of the Act, without any further act, instrument or deed be and stand transferred to and vested in or be deemed to stand transferred to and vested in, the Transferee Company so as to become the Liabilities of the Transferee Company, and further that it shall not be necessary to obtain the consent of any person who is a party to any contract or arrangement by virtue of which such Liabilities have arisen in order to give effect to the provisions of this Clause.
 - (b) In case of such of the Liabilities or the documents governing such of the Liabilities where there is an obligation on one or more of the Transferor Companies to maintain any privilege or status specifically conferred by any statute or regulation, such obligation and related consequences thereof shall cease to be operative against the Transferee Company, and the relevant terms of the documents governing such Liabilities shall, without any further act, instrument or deed, stand modified accordingly.
 - (c) All public deposits, debentures or bonds of the Transferor Companies shall be kept distinctly identified in the records of the Transferee Company for all intents and purposes including taxation and accounting and shall not be combined with any existing outstanding deposit scheme or series of debentures or bonds of the Transferee Company.
 - (d) (i) All debentures, bonds, notes or other securities of the Transferor Companies, whether convertible into equity or otherwise, (the "Transferor Companies' Securities"), shall, pursuant to the provisions of Section 394(2) of the Act, without any further act, instrument or deed become securities of the Transferee Company and all rights, powers, duties and obligations in relation thereto shall be and stand transferred to and vested in or deemed to be transferred to and vested in and shall be exercised by or against the

Transferee Company as if it were the Transferor Company in respect of the Transferor Companies' Securities so transferred. If the Transferor Companies' Securities are listed on any stock exchange, the same shall, subject to applicable regulations, be listed and/or admitted to trading on the relevant stock exchange/s whether in India or abroad, where the Transferor Companies' Securities were listed and/or admitted to trading on the same terms and conditions unless otherwise modified in accordance with the provisions hereof.

- (ii) Loans and other obligations (including any guarantees, letters of credit, letters of comfort or any other instrument or arrangement which may give rise to a contingent liability in whatever form), if any, due or which may at any time in future become due between or amongst the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company shall stand discharged and there shall be no liability in that behalf on either party. Provided however, security over any moveable and/or immoveable properties and security in any other form (both present and future), if any, created by any person in favour of any one or more of the Transferor Companies for securing the obligation of the persons for and on whose behalf a guarantee, letter of credit, letter of comfort or other similar instrument has been executed or arrangements entered into by the Transferor Companies in favour of the Transferee Company shall, pursuant to the provisions of Section 394(2) of the Act, without any further act, instrument or deed stand vested in and be deemed to be in favour of the Transferee Company and the benefit of such security shall be available to the Transferee Company as if such security was ab initio created in favour of the Transferee Company.
- (iii) Any securities, debentures or notes, if any, issued by any one or more of the Transferor Companies, and held by the Transferee Company, and vice versa shall, unless sold or transferred by such Transferor Company or the Transferee Company, as the case may be, at any time prior to the Appointed Date or the Effective Date (whichever is later), stand cancelled as on the Effective Date, and shall be of no effect and such Transferor Company or the Transferee Company, as the case may be, shall have no further obligation outstanding in that behalf.
- (iv) Without prejudice to the provisions of clause (d) (ii) above, the guarantees, letters of credit, letters of comfort and other similar arrangements, if any, given or executed or made by ICICI in favour of, for the benefit of and on behalf of, ICICI Capital and/or ICICI PFS in favour of any person shall stand discharged.
- (e) If the Effective Date occurs after the Appointed Date, the following provisions shall apply:
 - (i) where any of the liabilities and obligations of the Transferor Companies as on the Appointed Date transferred to the Transferee Company have been discharged by the Transferor Companies after the Appointed Date and prior to the Effective Date, such discharge shall be deemed to have been for and on account of the Transferee Company;
 - (ii) all loans raised and utilized and all debts, duties, undertakings, liabilities and obligations incurred or undertaken by the Transferor Companies in relation to or in connection with the Undertaking after the Appointed Date and prior to the Effective Date shall be deemed to have been raised, used, incurred or undertaken for and on behalf of the Transferee Company and to the extent they are outstanding on the Effective Date, shall, pursuant to the provisions of Section 394(2) of the Act, without any further act, instrument or deed be and stand transferred to or vested in or be deemed to be transferred to and vested in the Transferee Company and shall become the liabilities and obligations of the Transferee Company which shall meet, discharge and satisfy the same; and
 - (iii) all estates, assets, rights, title, interests and authorities accrued to and/or acquired by the Transferor Companies in relation to or in connection with the Undertaking after the Appointed Date and prior to the Effective Date shall have been deemed to have been accrued to and/or acquired for and on behalf of the Transferee Company and shall, pursuant to the provisions of Section 394(2) of the Act, without any further act, instrument or deed be and stand transferred to or vested in or be deemed to be transferred to or vested in the Transferee Company to that extent and shall become the estates, assets, right, title, interests and authorities of the Transferee Company.
- 6. If the Effective Date occurs after the Appointed Date:
 - (a) each of the Transferor Companies with effect from the Appointed Date and upto and including the Effective Date:
 - (i) shall carry on and shall be deemed to have carried on all the business and activities as hitherto and shall hold and stand possessed of and shall be deemed to have held and stood possessed of the Undertaking on account of, and in trust for, the Transferee Company; and

- (ii) all the profits or incomes accruing or arising to the Transferor Companies, or expenditure or losses arising or incurred (including the effect of taxes, if any, thereon) by the Transferor Companies shall, for all purposes, be treated and be deemed to be and accrue as the profits or incomes or expenditure or losses or taxes of the Transferee Company, as the case may be.
- (b) each of the Transferor Companies with effect from the Appointed Date and upto and including the Effective Date shall carry on its business and activities with reasonable diligence and business prudence and shall not undertake financial commitments either for itself or on behalf of its subsidiaries or group companies or any third party, or sell, transfer, alienate, charge, mortgage or encumber the Undertaking or any part thereof, save and except in each case in the following circumstances:
 - (i) if the same is in its ordinary course of business as carried on by it as on the date of filing of this Scheme with the High Court of Judicature at Bombay and the High Court of Gujarat at Ahmedabad; or
 - (ii) if the same is expressly permitted by this Scheme; or
 - (iii) if prior written consent of the Transferee Company has been obtained.
- (c) the Transferee Company with effect from the Appointed Date and upto and including the Effective Date shall carry on its business and activities with reasonable diligence and business prudence and shall not undertake financial commitments either for itself or on behalf of its subsidiaries or group companies or any third party, or sell, transfer, alienate, charge, mortgage or encumber its undertaking or any part thereof, save and except in each case in the following circumstances:
 - (i) if the same is in its ordinary course of business as carried on by it as on the date of filing this Scheme with the High Court of Judicature at Bombay and the High Court of Gujarat at Ahmedabad; or
 - (ii) if the same is expressly permitted by this Scheme; or
 - (iii) if prior written consent of each of the Transferor Companies has been obtained.
- 7. (a) The Board of Directors of ICICI and the Transferee Company have jointly constituted a committee in the manner described in sub-clause (b) below (the "Joint Committee") to perform the functions specified in sub-clause (c) below from the date of filing of this Scheme with the High Court of Judicature at Bombay and the High Court of Gujarat at Ahmedabad until the Effective Date.
 - (b) The constitution of the Joint Committee shall be as mentioned hereinbelow:
 - (i) Shri K. V. Kamath (Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, ICICI), as the Chairman of the Joint Committee:
 - (ii) Shri H. N. Sinor (Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, ICICI Bank), as a member of the Joint Committee;
 - (iii) Shri K. V. Kamath shall have the power and authority to appoint such additional members of the Joint Committee, as may be necessary, from amongst the whole time Directors and/or employees of ICICI;
 - (iv) Shri H. N. Sinor shall have the power and authority to appoint such additional members of the Joint Committee, as may be necessary, from amongst the whole time Directors and/or employees of ICICI Bank.
 - (c) From the date of filing of this Scheme with the High Court of Judicature at Bombay and the High Court of Gujarat at Ahmedabad and until the Effective Date, the Joint Committee shall perform the following functions:
 - in case of any ambiguity or any question as to whether any matter is within or outside the ordinary course
 of the business of the Transferor Companies and/or the Transferee Company, it shall determine the same
 on the basis of evidence that it may deem relevant for the purpose (including the books and records of
 the Transferor Companies and/or the Transferee Company);
 - (ii) to consider for approval the matters pertaining to the share capital of the Transferor Companies and/or the Transferee Company as specified in Clause 9 below;
 - (iii) to deal with the matters, if any, in relation to change in the employees' compensation structure of the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company and matters incidental or consequential or related thereto; and
 - (iv) to perform such other functions specifically provided elsewhere in this Scheme or as may be specifically conferred on it by the Boards of Directors of ICICI and the Transferee Company respectively.

- (d) Unless otherwise agreed to between Shri K. V. Kamath and Shri H. N. Sinor, the quorum for meetings of the Joint Committee shall be two (2). The Joint Committee shall meet at such times and places, and shall observe and follow such rules and procedure formulated by the Joint Committee, from time to time, in regard to the transaction of business at its meetings. The Chairman of the Joint Committee or, if for any reason, the Chairman is unable to attend a meeting of the Joint Committee, any other member elected by the members present from amongst themselves at the meeting shall preside at such meeting. All matters shall be decided by the Joint Committee by a majority vote of the members present and voting at the meeting, and in the event of an equality of votes, the Chairman or in his absence, the person presiding, shall have the second or casting vote. If, however, without convening a meeting of the members of the Joint Committee any matter is decided by the Joint Committee wherein the consent or approval of the majority of the members of the Joint Committee is obtained by letter or letters or any instrument signed by such members of the Joint Committee then such letter or letters or instrument shall constitute a resolution passed or decision taken at the meeting of the Joint Committee duly convened and held and shall have the effect accordingly. All decisions of the Joint Committee determined as aforesaid shall be binding on the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company.
- 8. ICICI may, on the Appointed Date, transfer all the shares of the Transferee Company held by it on such date (the "ICICI Bank Shares") to an individual trustee or a board of trustees (including the survivors or survivor of any of the trustees comprising such board of trustees) or a corporate trustee (hereinafter referred to as the "Trustees"), to have and to hold the ICICI Bank Shares in trust together with all additions or accretions thereto upon trust exclusively for the benefit of ICICI and its successor subject to the powers, provisions, discretions, rights and agreements contained in the instrument (the "Trust Deed") establishing the aforesaid trust (the "Trust"). The Trustees shall not exercise any voting rights with respect to ICICI Bank Shares. It is proposed that the Trustee shall, within a period of 24 months from the Effective Date subject however to the prevailing market conditions (in which case, the said period may be suitably extended in the discretion of the Trustees), sell, transfer or dispose of the ICICI Bank Shares at such time or times and in such manner as may be proper in accordance with provisions of the Trust Deed and shall remit the proceeds thereof to ICICI or its successor and consequent thereto all obligations of the Trustees under the Trust Deed shall stand discharged and the trust shall stand terminated.
- 9. (a) From the date of filing of this Scheme with the High Court of Judicature at Bombay and the High Court of Gujarat at Ahmedabad and upto and including the Effective Date, none of the Transferor Companies and/or the Transferee Company shall make any change in its capital structure in any manner either by any increase (including by way of issue of equity and/or preference shares on a rights basis or by way of a public issue, bonus shares and/or convertible debentures or otherwise), decrease, reduction, reclassification, sub-division, consolidation, re-organisation, or in any other manner which may, in any way, affect the Share Exchange Ratio (as defined in Clause 13 below), except with the prior approval of the Joint Committee provided that nothing contained in this sub-clause shall be deemed to affect any pre-existing obligations of any of the Transferor Companies and/or the Transferee Company, including in respect of the issue of further employees' stock options, vesting of stock options or exercise of vested options under any existing scheme or conversion of any loan or convertible security into equity shares in accordance with the terms of any loan obtained or convertible security issued by any of the Transferor Companies and/or the Transferee Company.
 - (b) (i) In respect of the stock options granted by ICICI under the employees' stock options scheme to its directors and employees and employees of ICICI Capital or ICICI PFS or any other subsidiary or associate company of ICICI which have not yet been exercised and are outstanding ("ICICI Stock Options"), the said directors and employees shall, in lieu of the options held by them in ICICI, receive such number of options in the Transferee Company determined in accordance with the Share Exchange Ratio (as defined in Clause 13 below). The exercise price of the options received by the aforesaid directors and employees in lieu of the ICICI Stock Options shall be twice the price payable by the said directors and employees for the exercise of the ICICI Stock Options. All other terms and conditions in relation to the options aforesaid shall be similar to those contained in the employees stock option scheme of the Transferee Company.
 - (ii) Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme, Section IV Part I of the employees' stock options scheme of the Transferee Company shall stand amended in the following manner:
 - "The maximum number of Options granted to any Eligible Employee in a financial year shall not exceed 0.05% of the issued equity shares of the Bank at the time of grant of the Options and the aggregate of all such Options granted to the Eligible Employees shall not exceed five percent of the aggregate number

of the issued equity shares of the Bank after coming into effect of the amalgamation of ICICI Limited, ICICI Capital Services Limited and ICICI Personal Financial Services Limited with the Bank and the issuance of equity shares by the Bank pursuant to the aforesaid amalgamation of ICICI Limited, ICICI Capital Services Limited and ICICI Personal Financial Services Limited with the Bank."

- 10. Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme:
 - (a) all suits, actions and legal and other proceedings by or against the Transferor Companies pending and/or arising on or before the Appointed Date or the Effective Date (whichever is later) shall be transferred in the name of the Transferee Company and shall be continued and be enforced by or against the Transferee Company as effectually and in the same manner and to the same extent as if the same had been pending and/or arisen by or against the Transferee Company.
 - (b) the Transferee Company shall be notified as the 'designated person' under the provisions of Section 16 read with Section 2(d) of the Shipping Development Fund Committee (Abolition) Act, 1986 and all suits, actions and legal and other proceedings by or against ICICI in its capacity as such 'designated person' pending and/or arising on or before the Appointed Date or the Effective Date (whichever is later) shall be transferred in the name of the Transferee Company and shall be continued and be enforced by or against the Transferee Company had originally been notified as the 'designated person' in that behalf and as if the same had been pending and/or arisen by or against the Transferee Company.
- 11. (a) Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme, and subject to the provisions of this Scheme, all contracts, deeds, bonds, agreements, arrangements and other instruments (including all tenancies, leases, licenses and other assurances in favour of any of the Transferor Companies or powers or authorities granted by or to any of them) of whatsoever nature to which any of the Transferor Companies is a party or to the benefit of which any of the Transferor Companies may be eligible, and which are subsisting or having effect immediately before the Appointed Date or the Effective Date (whichever is later), shall, without any further act, instrument or deed, be in full force and effect in favour of or against the Transferee Company, as the case may be, and may be enforced as fully and effectually as if, instead of such Transferor Company, the Transferee Company had been a party or beneficiary or obligee thereto.
 - (b) The Transferee Company may, at any time after the coming into effect of this Scheme in accordance with the provisions hereof, if so required, under any law or otherwise, execute deeds of confirmation in favour of any party to any contract or arrangement to which any of the Transferor Companies is a party or any writings as may be necessary to be executed in order to give formal effect to the above provisions. The Transferee Company shall be deemed to be authorized to execute any such writings on behalf of the Transferor Companies and to carry out or perform all formalities or compliances required for the purposes referred to above on the part of the Transferor Companies.
- 12. Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme:
 - (a) the employees of the Transferor Companies who are in service on the Appointed Date or the Effective Date (whichever is later), shall become the employees solely of the Transferee Company on such date without any break or interruption in service and on terms and conditions as to remuneration not less favourable than those subsisting with reference to the respective Transferor Companies on the said date.
 - (b) the existing provident fund, gratuity fund, and pension and/or superannuation fund or trusts created by the Transferor Companies or any other special funds created or existing for the benefit of the employees of the Transferor Companies shall be transferred to the relevant funds of the Transferee Company. In the event that the Transferee Company does not have its own fund with respect to any such matters, the Transferee Company shall create its own funds to which the contributions pertaining to the employees of Transferor Companies shall be transferred.

PART IV - REORGANIZATION OF CAPITAL

13. (a) Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme, and in consideration of the transfer of and vesting of the Undertaking and the Liabilities of the Transferor Companies in the Transferee Company in terms of this Scheme, the Transferee Company shall without any further application, act, instrument or deed, issue and allot to the equity shareholders of ICICI whose names are recorded in the Register of Members of ICICI (the "Members"), on a date (hereinafter referred to as the "Record Date") to be fixed by the Board of Directors of

the Transferee Company or a committee of such Board of Directors, equity shares of Rs. 10/- (Rupees ten only) each, credited as fully paid up, in the ratio of 1(one) equity share of the face value of Rs. 10/- (Rupees ten only) each in the Transferee Company for every 2 (two) equity shares of the face value of Rs. 10/- (Rupees ten only) each held in ICICI.

(the above ratio in which the shares of the Transferee Company are to be allotted to the shareholders of ICICI by the Transferee Company is hereinafter referred to as the "Share Exchange Ratio").

- (b) The share certificates in relation to the shares held by the said Members in ICICI (and the ADRs that have been issued representing the underlying shares in ICICI) shall be deemed to have been automatically cancelled and be of no effect on and from such Record Date, without any further act, instrument or deed. In so far as the issue of shares pursuant to sub-clause (a) above is concerned, each of the said Members of ICICI, shall have the option, exercisable by notice in writing by the said Members to the Transferee Company on or before such date as may be determined by the Board of Directors of the Transferee Company or a committee of such Board of Directors, to receive either in certificate form or in dematerialised form, the shares of the Transferee Company in lieu thereof and in terms hereof. In the event that such notice has not been received by the Transferee Company in respect of any of the said Members, the shares of the Transferee Company shall be issued to such Members in certificate form. Those of the said Members exercising the option to receive the shares in dematerialised form shall be required to have an account with a depository participant and shall provide details thereof and such other confirmations as may be required. It is only thereupon that the Transferee Company shall issue and directly credit the demat/dematerialised securities account of such Member with the shares of the Transferee Company.
- (c) No shares shall be issued by the Transferee Company pursuant to the amalgamation of ICICI Capital and ICICI PFS, both of which are wholly owned subsidiaries of ICICI.
- (d) In respect of equity shares of ICICI where calls are in arrears, without prejudice to any remedies that ICICI or the Transferee Company, as the case may be, shall have in this behalf, the Transferee Company shall not be bound to issue any shares of the Transferee Company (whether partly paid or otherwise) nor to confirm any entitlement to such holder until such time as the calls-in-arrears are paid.
- (e) Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme, the Transferee Company shall issue to the holders of 0.001% preference shares of Rs. 1,00,00,000/- each fully paid-up (the "Preference Shares") of ICICI one 0.001% preference share of Rs. 1,00,00,000/- fully paid in lieu of every Preference Share on the same terms and conditions subject to the approval of the Reserve Bank of India and issue of notification and/or grant of permission for issuance of such preference shares, and/or amendment of the Banking Regulation Act, 1949. Provided however, in case such approval and/or grant of permission and/or amendment is not forthcoming ICICI will make alternate arrangements for accounting for the Preference Shares. The Preference Shares of ICICI shall stand cancelled upon the issuance of the preference shares by the Transferee Company as aforesaid. Nothing contained in this Clause shall affect the redemption on maturity of any of the Preference Shares of ICICI prior to the Effective Date.
- 14. No fractional certificates shall be issued by the Transferee Company in respect of fractional entitlements, if any, to any Member. The Board of Directors of the Transferee Company shall, instead consolidate all such fractional entitlements and thereupon issue and allot equity shares in lieu thereof to the Trust or a director or an officer of the Transferee Company or such other person as the Transferee Company shall appoint in this behalf who shall hold the shares in trust on behalf of the Members entitled to fractional entitlements with the express understanding that such Trust, director(s) or officer(s) or person shall sell the same in the market at such time or times and at such price or prices in the market and to such person or persons, as it/he/they deem fit, and pay to the Transferee Company, the net sale proceeds thereof, whereupon the Transferee Company shall distribute such net sale proceeds to the Members of ICICI in proportion to their respective fractional entitlements.
- 15. Equity shares issued and allotted by the Transferee Company in terms of Clause 13 shall be subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Transferee Company and shall rank pari passu in all respects with the then existing equity shares of the Transferee Company, including in respect of dividends, if any, that may be declared by the Transferee Company, on or after the Appointed Date.
- 16. Equity shares of the Transferee Company issued in terms of Clause 13 above, shall, subject to applicable regulations, be listed or admitted to trading on the relevant stock exchange/s, whether in India or abroad, where the equity shares of the Transferee Company are presently listed or admitted to trading.

- 17. (a) Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme and the issue of shares in the Share Exchange Ratio, pursuant to Clause 13 above, the Transferee Company shall instruct its depositary (the "Depositary") to issue ADRs of the Transferee Company to the existing investors in ADRs of ICICI in an appropriate manner in accordance with the terms of the Deposit Agreement entered into amongst the Transferee Company, Bankers Trust Company and all registered holders and beneficial owners from time to time of the ADRs of the Transferee Company (the "Deposit Agreement"). The Transferee Company and the Depositary shall enter into such further documents as may be necessary and appropriate in this behalf.
 - (b) The Transferee Company shall take necessary steps for the issue of ADRs pursuant to Clause 17(a) above and for listing the ADRs on the New York Stock Exchange, including without limitation the filing of a supplemental listing application with the New York Stock Exchange and any required amendment of the Form F-6 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, of the United States of America (the "Securities Act").
 - (c) The ADRs issued to the existing investors in the ADRs of ICICI pursuant to Clause 17(a) above shall be similar in all material respects with the then existing ADRs of the Transferee Company.
 - (d) The equity shares underlying the ADRs issued to the existing investors in the ADRs of ICICI shall not be registered under Securities Act in reliance upon the exemption from registration contained in Section 3(a)(10) of the Securities Act, and upon a no-action letter issued by the staff of the US Securities and Exchange Commission. To obtain this exemption, the Transferee Company will rely on the approval of the Scheme by the High Court of Judicature at Bombay and the High Court of Gujarat at Ahmedabad following the hearing by each court.
 - (e) If, on account of the Share Exchange Ratio, fractional ADRs of the Transferee Company have to be issued, then, in accordance with Section 4.03 of the Deposit Agreement, in lieu of delivering receipts for fractional ADRs the Depository may, in its discretion, sell the shares represented by the aggregate of such fractions, at public or private sale, at such place or places and at such price or prices as it may deem proper, and distribute the net proceeds of any such sale in accordance with the terms of the Deposit Agreement.

PART V - GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS

- 18. (a) The Transferor Companies and the Transferoe Company shall be entitled to declare and pay dividends, whether interim or final, to their respective equity shareholders in respect of the accounting period prior to the Appointed Date. Provided that any such declaration after the Appointed Date and prior to the Effective Date shall be made with the prior approval of the Board of Directors of the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company.
 - (b) Until the coming into effect of this Scheme, the holder of equity shares of the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company shall, save as expressly provided otherwise in this Scheme, continue to enjoy their existing rights under their respective articles of association including the right to receive dividends.
 - (c) It is clarified that the aforesaid provisions in respect of declaration of dividends, whether interim or final, are enabling provisions only and shall not be deemed to confer any right on any member of any of the Transferor Companies and/or the Transferee Company to demand or claim any dividends which, subject to the provisions of the Act, shall be entirely at the discretion of the respective Boards of Directors of the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company and subject, wherever necessary, to the approval of the shareholders of the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company, respectively.
- 19. (a) Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme and with effect from the Appointed Date, for the purpose of accounting for and dealing with the value of the assets and liabilities of ICICI in the books of the Transferee Company, the fair value of the assets (after deducting such provisions as are outstanding in the books of ICICI on the date immediately preceding the Appointed Date in respect of any asset or class of assets) and liabilities shall be determined on the Appointed Date to the satisfaction of the Transferee Company.
 - (b) Upon the coming into effect of the Scheme and with effect from the Appointed Date:
 - (i) If the fair value of any class of assets of ICICI determined in accordance with sub-clause (a) above is less than the value of such class of assets appearing in the books of ICICI immediately prior to the Appointed Date, the assets shall be accounted for and dealt with in the books of the Transferee Company at the value appearing in the books of ICICI on the date immediately preceding the Appointed Date and a provision equal to the difference between the value appearing in the books of ICICI and the fair value determined in accordance with sub-clause (a) above shall be made in the books of the Transferee Company.

- (ii) If the fair value of any class of assets of ICICI determined in accordance with sub-clause (a) above is greater than the value of such class of assets appearing in the books of ICICI immediately prior to the Appointed Date, the assets shall be accounted for and dealt with in the books of the Transferee Company at the fair value.
- (iii) Provisions outstanding in the books of ICICI on the date immediately preceding the Appointed Date in respect of any asset or class of assets shall be accounted for and dealt with in the books of the Transferee Company as provisions against the assets or class of assets against which such provisions were held in the books of ICICI on the date immediately preceding the Appointed Date.
- (iv) The liabilities of ICICI shall be accounted for and dealt with in the books of the Transferee Company at the fair value determined in accordance with sub-clause (a) above.
- (c) The excess of the fair value of the net assets of ICICI over the paid-up value of the shares to be issued and allotted pursuant to the terms of Clause 13, shall be accounted for and dealt with in the books of the Transferee Company as follows:
 - (i) The balance in "Special Reserve Account" of ICICI shall continue to be designated as Special Reserve Account in the books of the Transferee Company;
 - (ii) The balance in "Debenture Redemption Reserve Account" of ICICI shall continue to be designated as a Debenture Redemption Reserve Account in the books of the Transferee Company;
 - (iii) The aggregate balance in "Capital Reserve Account", "Capital Redemption Reserve Account", "Share Premium Account", "General Reserve Account", "Profit and Loss Account" and any other account included in reserves and surplus of ICICI on the date immediately preceding the Appointed Date shall be reduced by the provisions created in accordance with sub-clause (b)(i) above and such further adjustments as may be deemed necessary including such adjustments as may be required to ensure the uniform application of accounting standards and policies adopted by the Transferee Company and the net balance thereof shall be credited by the Transferee Company to its General Reserve Account.
- (d) (i) Upon the coming into effect of the Scheme and with effect from the Appointed Date, the assets and liabilities of ICICI Capital and ICICI PFS shall be accounted for and dealt with in the books of the Transferee Company at their fair values to be determined on the Appointed Date to the satisfaction of the Transferee Company.
 - (ii) In determining the fair value of the assets and liabilities of ICICI Capital and ICICI PFS and making the necessary adjustments, the provisions of sub-clauses (a) to (c) above shall be applied mutatis mutandis to ICICI Capital and ICICI PFS.
 - (iii) An amount equal to the net assets of ICICI Capital and ICICI PFS shall be credited by the Transferee Company to its General Reserve Account.
- 20. Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme:
 - (a) Clauses V of the Memorandum of Association of the Transferee Company shall, without any further act, instrument or deed, be and stand altered, modified and amended pursuant to Sections 94 and 394 and other applicable provisions of the Act in the manner set forth in Schedule I hereto.
 - (b) The Articles of Association of the Transferee Company shall, without any further act, instrument or deed, be and stand altered, modified and amended pursuant to Sections 31 and 394 and other applicable provisions of the Act in the manner set forth in Schedule II hereto.
- 21. Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme, the Board of Directors of the Transferee Company shall be reconstituted in accordance with the provisions of the Act and the Banking Regulation Act, 1949. Provided that, subject to the approval of the Reserve Bank of India, the maximum number of Directors on the Board of Directors shall be increased to 21 (exclusive of the nominee director appointed by the Government of India and the director as may be nominated pursuant to the trust documents in relation to the issue of debentures or bonds of the Transferee Company and/or the Transferor Companies).
- 22. Upon the coming into effect of this Scheme, the borrowing limits of the Transferee Company in terms of Section 293 (1)(d) of the said Act, shall without further act, instrument or deed stand enhanced by an amount aggregating to Rs.100,550 crore being the aggregate borrowing limits of the Transferor Companies, such limits being incremental to the existing limits of the Transferee Company.

- 23. The Transferor Companies shall with all reasonable despatch, make applications/petitions under Sections 391 and 394 and other applicable provisions of the Act to the High Court of Judicature at Bombay for sanctioning of this Scheme and for dissolution of the Transferor Companies without winding up under the provisions of law, and obtain all approvals as may be required under law. Upon coming into effect of this Scheme, the Transferor Companies shall, without any further act, deed, or instrument, be dissolved without winding-up.
- 24. The Transferee Company shall also with all reasonable despatch, make applications/petitions under Sections 391 and 394 and other applicable provisions of the Act to the High Court of Gujarat at Ahmedabad for sanctioning of this Scheme under the provisions of law, and obtain all approvals as may be required under law.
- 25. The Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company may assent from time to time on behalf of all persons concerned to any modifications or amendments or additions to this Scheme or to any conditions or limitations which either the Boards of Directors of any of the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company deem fit, or which the High Court of Judicature at Bombay and/or the High Court of Gujarat at Ahmedabad and/or any other authorities (including the Reserve Bank of India) under law may deem fit to approve of or impose and which the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company may in their discretion deem fit and to resolve all doubts or difficulties that may arise in carrying out and implementing this Scheme and to do, authorise and execute all acts, instruments, deeds, matters and things necessary, or to review the position relating to the satisfaction of the conditions to this Scheme and if necessary, to waive any of those (to the extent permissible under law) for bringing this Scheme into effect. In the event of any of the conditions that may be imposed by the Courts or other authorities (including the Reserve Bank of India) which the Transferor Companies or the Transferee Company may find unacceptable for any reason, then the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company are at liberty to withdraw the Scheme. The aforesaid powers of the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company may be exercised by their respective Boards of Directors, a committee or committees of the concerned Board of Directors or any director authorised in that behalf by the concerned Board of Directors (hereinafter referred to as the "delegates").
 - (b) For the purpose of giving effect to this Scheme or to any modifications or amendments thereof or additions thereto, the delegate of the Transferor Companies and Transferee Company may give and are authorised to determine and give all such directions as are necessary including directions for settling or removing any question of doubt or difficulty that may arise and such determination or directions, as the case may be, shall be binding on all parties, in the same manner as if the same were specifically incorporated in this Scheme.
 - (c) In the event of there being any pending share transfers, whether lodged or outstanding, of any shareholder of ICICI, the Board of Directors or any committee thereof of ICICI shall be empowered in appropriate cases, even subsequent to the Record Date to effectuate such a transfer in ICICI as if such changes in registered holder were operative as on the Record Date, in order to remove any difficulties arising to the transferor or the transferee of the share in the Transferee Company and in relation to the new shares after the Scheme becomes effective.
- 26. This Scheme is conditional upon and subject to:
 - (a) the Scheme being agreed to by the requisite majorities of the members of the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company as required under the Act and the requisite orders of the High Court of Judicature at Bombay and the High Court of Gujarat at Ahmedabad referred to in Clauses 23 and 24 above being obtained;
 - (b) the approval of the Reserve Bank of India being obtained;
 - (c) such other sanctions and approvals including from any governmental authority or contracting party, if any, as may be required by law or contract in respect of the Scheme being obtained; and
 - (d) the certified copies of the court orders referred to in this Scheme being filed with the Registrar of Companies, Maharashtra, and the Registrar of Companies, Gujarat.
- 27. In the event of this Scheme not becoming effective by June 30, 2002 or by such later date as may be agreed to by the respective Boards of Directors of the Transferor Companies and the Transferee Company, this Scheme shall become null and void and in that event no rights and liabilities whatsoever shall accrue to or be incurred inter se by the parties or their shareholders or creditors or employees or any other person. In such case each company shall bear its own costs or as may be mutually agreed amongst themselves.
- 28. All costs, charges and expenses, including any taxes and duties of the Transferor Companies and Transferee Company respectively in relation to or in connection with this Scheme and incidental to the completion of the amalgamation of the Transferor Companies in pursuance of this Scheme shall be borne and paid by ICICI.

Schedule I

Amendment to the Memorandum of Association

Clause V of the Memorandum of Association of the Transferee Company shall stand modified and amended by deleting the Clause and replacing it with the following:

"The authorized capital of the Company shall be Rs. 2,250,00,00,000 divided into 1,90,00,00,000 shares of Rs. 10/- each and 350 shares of Rs. 1 crore each with rights privileges and conditions attached thereto as are provided by the Articles of Association of the Company for the time being with power to increase or reduce the capital of the Company and to divide the shares in the capital for the time being into several classes and to attach thereto respectively such preferential, cumulative, convertible, guarantee, qualified or other special rights, privilege, condition or restriction, as may be determined by or in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company for the time being and to vary, modify, or abrogate any such right, privilege or condition or restriction in such manner as may for the time being be permitted by the Articles of Association of the Company or the legislative provisions for the time being in force."

Schedule II

Amendments to the Articles of Association

The Articles of Association of the Company shall stand modified and amended in the following manner.

- 1. By deleting the definition of ICICI in Article 3.
- 2. By deleting Article 5(a) and replacing it with the following: -
 - "5(a) The Authorised Share Capital of the Company is Rs. 2,250,00,00,000 divided into 1,90,00,00,000 equity shares of Rs. 10/- each and 350 preference shares of Rs. 1 crore each."
- 3. By inserting the word 'debentures' in Article 10(a) after the word 'shares' and before the words 'or other interest....'.
- 4. By inserting a new Article 80A as follows:
 - "The Company may purchase its own shares in the manner provided for in Section 77A of the Act."
- 5. By deleting Article 99(b) and replacing it with the following:
 - "99(b) If there be no Chairman or if at any meeting he shall not be present within 15 minutes after the time appointed for holding such meeting, or is unwilling to act, the Managing Director shall be entitled to act as the Chairman of such meeting failing which the Non-Rotational Directors present may choose one of their number to act as Chairman of the meeting and in default of their doing so, the Members present shall choose one of the Directors to take the Chair and if no Directors present be willing to take the Chair, the Members present shall choose one of their number to be the Chairman of the meeting."
- 6. By deleting Article 113 and replacing it with the following:
 - "113 (a) on a show of hands, every Member present in person shall have one vote; and
 - (b) on a poll, the voting rights of Members shall be as provided in Section 87 of the Act, but will be subject to the ceiling of ten per cent of the total voting rights or such other percentage as may be stipulated by Section 12(2) of the Banking Regulation Act."
- 7. By deleting Article 126 and replacing it with the following:
 - "126 Until otherwise determined by a General Meeting, the number of Directors shall not be less than three or more than 21 excluding the Government Director (referred to in Article 128A) and the Debenture Director (referred to in Article 129) (if any)."
- 8. By deleting Article 128 and replacing it with the following:
 - "128 Not more than one-third of the total number of Directors shall be non-rotational Directors and, except for the Debenture Director and the Government Director, such non-rotational Directors (hereinafter referred to as the "Non-Rotational Directors") shall be appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company. The remaining Directors shall be persons whose period of office is liable to determination by rotation and subject to the provisions of the Act shall be appointed by the Company in General Meeting."
- 9. By inserting a new Article 128A after the existing Article 128:
 - "128A(a) During such time as the Guarantee Agreement dated March 14, 1955 or the Guarantee Agreement dated July 15, 1959 or the Guarantee Agreement dated October 28, 1960 or the Guarantee Agreement dated February 28, 1962, between the President of India and The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development shall remain in force the President of India shall have the right from time to time to appoint one person as a Director of the Company and to remove such person from office and on a vacancy being caused in such office from any cause whether by resignation, death, removal or otherwise to appoint a Director in the vacant place. The Company shall be entitled to agree with the President of India for the appointment of a Director of the Company by the President of India as contemplated by this Article in respect of any future advance or advances by the Government of India or in respect of any guarantee or guarantees that may be given by the Government of India in connection with the Company's future borrowings from The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development or any other financial institution. The Director appointed under this Article is herein referred to as "the Government Director" and the term "Government Director" means the Director for the time being in office under this Article. The

Government Director shall not be liable to retire by rotation or be removed from office except by the President of India as aforesaid. Subject as aforesaid the Government Director shall be entitled to the same rights and privileges and be subject to the same obligations as any other Director of the Company."

- 10. By inserting the following sentence at the end of Article 132 after the words "...or the Central Government.":
 - "No Director who is a Government servant shall be entitled to receive any remuneration under this Article or other provisions of these presents except as authorised by the Government."
- 11. By inserting a new Article 132A after the existing Article 132:
 - "132A Subject to the provisions of Article 132 in the case of a Government servant, the Directors may allow and pay to any Director who is not a bona fide resident of the place where a meeting is held and who shall come to such place for the purpose of attending a meeting such sum as the Directors may consider fair compensation for travelling, hotel and other expenses in addition to his remuneration as above specified and the Directors may from time to time fix the remuneration to be paid to any member or members of their body constituting a committee appointed by the Directors in terms of these presents and may pay the same."
- 12. By inserting a new Article 132B after the Article 132A:
 - "132B Subject to the provisions of Article 132 in the case of a Government servant if any Director, being willing, shall be called upon to perform extra services or to make any special exertions in going out or residing at a particular place or otherwise for any of the purposes of the Company, the Company may remunerate such Director either by fixed sum or otherwise as may be determined by the Directors and such remuneration may be either in addition to or in substitution for his remuneration above provided."
- 13. By deleting Article 140(b)(iii)
- 14. By deleting Article 142 and replacing it with the following:
 - "142 At every Annual General Meeting of the Company, one third of such Directors for the time being as are liable to retire by rotation or if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to one-third, shall retire from office. The Debenture Directors, the Government Directors and the Non-Rotational Directors, subject to Article 151, shall not be subject to retirement under this Article."
- 15. By deleting the words "nomination of ICICI Directors by ICICI" in Article 149(d) and replacing it with the words "appointment of the Non-Rotational Directors".
- 16. By inserting the words "or a Non-Rotational Director" instead of the words "or a Nominee Director" in Article 150(a).
- 17. By deleting Article 151(a) and replacing it with the following:
 - "151(a) Subject to the provisions of the said Acts and these presents, the Board of Directors of the Company shall be entitled to appoint from time to time, one or more of the Non-Rotational Directors to act as the Whole-time or Executive Chairman and Managing Director or Part—time Chairman or Whole-time Chairman (hereinafter referred to as the "Executive Chairman") or a Managing Director or Managing Director(s) and/ or Whole-time Director or Whole-time Director(s) of the Company (hereinafter referred to as the "Managing Director") for such term not exceeding five years at a time as the Board of Directors may think fit to manage the affairs and business of the Company and may from time to time (subject to provisions of any contract between him and the Company) may remove or dismiss him or them from office and appoint another in his place."
- 18. By deleting Article 151(b).
- 19. By deleting Article 151(c).
- 20. By deleting the following paragraph in Article 155:

"Provide further, that no quorum for a Meeting of the Board shall be constituted and no such meeting shall proceed to transact any business unless at least one ICICI Director or his Alternate are present at such meeting, except where for a particular meeting the said requirement for a quorum is waived in writing by the ICICI Directors or their Alternates."

- 21. By deleting Article 157 and replacing it with the following:
 - The Directors may subject to the provisions of the Act delegate any of their powers to Committees consisting of Directors and/or such other person or persons as they think fit, and they may from time to time revoke and substitute such delegation. Any Committee so formed shall in the exercise of the powers so delegated, conform to any regulations that may from time to time be imposed on it by the Directors. All acts done by any such Committee in conformity with such regulations and in fulfilment of the purposes of its appointment but not otherwise, shall have the force and the effect as if done by the Board."
- 22. By deleting Article 159(a) and replacing it with the following:
 - "159(a) All meetings of the Directors shall be presided over by the Chairman if present, but if at any meeting of Directors, the Chairman be not present, at the time appointed for holding the same, then and in that case the Managing Director shall be entitled to be the Chairman of such meeting, failing which the Board shall choose one of the Non-Rotational Directors then present to preside at the meeting."
- 23. By deleting Article 161(c).

IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUDICATURE AT BOMBAY ORDINARY ORIGINAL CIVIL JURISDICTION COMPANY APPLICATION NO. 606 OF 2001

In the matter of the Companies Act, 1956;

-And

In the matter of Sections 391 to 394 of the Companies Act, 1956;

-And-

In the matter of ICICI Limited, a company incorporated under the Indian Companies Act, 1913 and having its Registered Office at ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Mumbai 400 051, Maharashtra

-And-

In the matter of Scheme of Amalgamation of ICICI Limited, ICICI Capital Services Limited and ICICI Personal Financial Services Limited with ICICI Bank Limited.

ICICI Limited, a company incorporated under the Indian Companies Act, 1913 and having its Registered Office at ICICI Towers, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Mumbai 400 051, Maharashtra

.....Applicant Company.

FORM OF PROXY

I/We, the undersigned Equity Shareholder/s of the Applicant Co	ompany hereby appoint	
of and failing him	of	as my/our proxy, to act for
me/us at the meeting of the Equity Shareholders of the Applicant	Company to be held at Sri Sh	nanmukhananda Chandrasekarendra
Saraswathi Auditorium, Comrade Harbanslal Marg, Sion (E), M	umbai – 400 022 on Wedn	esday, the 30th of January, 2002 at
3.00 p.m. (1500 hours) for the purpose of considering, and if tho	ught fit, approving with or w	ithout modification, the arrangement
embodied in the Scheme of Amalgamation of ICICI Limited, ICIC	Capital Services Limited ar	nd ICICI Personal Financial Services
Limited with ICICI Bank Limited and at such meeting and at an	y adjournment/s thereof, to	vote for me/us and in my/our name
(here, if for, insert 'for';	-	
words below after "Scheme of Amalgamation") the said arranger	nent embodied in the said S	scheme of Amalgamation, either with
or without modification, as my/our proxy may approve. (Strike ou	t what is not necessary.)	
Dated this day of	·	
Name :		
Address:		Affix
		30 paise
		Revenue
		Stamp
Folio No.:		
	Sin	nature:

NOTES:

- . All alterations made in the Form of Proxy should be initialled.
- Proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Applicant Company, not later than FORTY EIGHT hours before the meeting.
- 3. In case of multiple proxies, proxy later in time shall be accepted.